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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including the following:
·
·
·
·

certain statements, including possible or assumed future results of operations, in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”;
any statements contained herein regarding the prospects for our business or any of our services;
any statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words “may”, “will”, “should”, “seeks”, “believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”,
“intends”, “continue”, “estimate”, “plans”, “future”, “targets”, “predicts”, “budgeted”, “projections”, “outlooks”, “attempts”, “is scheduled”, or
similar expressions; and
other statements contained herein regarding matters that are not historical facts.

Our business and results of operations are subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our ability to control or predict. Because of these risks
and uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements, and investors are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such statements. All forward-looking statements herein speak only as of the date hereof, and we undertake no obligation to update any
such forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations and may adversely affect our
business and results of operations include, but are not limited to those items set forth in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” appearing in this Form 10-K.
Unless otherwise noted in this report, any description of “us” or “we” refers to StarTek, Inc. and our subsidiaries. Financial information in this report is
presented in U.S. dollars.
Part I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
StarTek is a provider of business process outsourcing services. We partner with our clients to meet their customer service needs and objectives by improving
their customer retention and brand loyalty, increasing revenues and reducing costs through an improved customer experience. The StarTek comprehensive
service suite includes customer care, sales support, complex order processing, accounts receivable management, technical and product support and other
industry-specific processes. We operate our business within three reportable segments, based on the geographic regions in which our services are rendered:
(1) the U.S., (2) Canada and (3) Offshore. As of December 31, 2010, our U.S. segment included the operations of our ten facilities in the U.S.; our Canada
segment included the operations of our three facilities in Canada; and our offshore segment included the operations of two facilities in the Philippines and
one in Costa Rica. Financial information for each of our reportable segments for the last three fiscal years is included in Note 16, “Segment Information,” to
our Consolidated Financial Statements, which are included at Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data,” of this Form 10-K.
Our business is providing an exceptional customer experience that enhances brand loyalty for our clients while improving their profitability and
competiveness.
Service Offerings
We provide our clients with an outsourced customer care service offerings so that they can focus on their core business and preserve capital. Our service
offering includes customer care, sales support, complex order processing, accounts receivable management, technical and product support and other industryspecific processes. We provide to our clients, a transparent extension of their brand no matter what service offering we provide for them.
Customer Experience Management. We provide customer experience management throughout the life cycle of our clients’ customers. These programs
include management of customer acquisition, new account set-up, repair services management, customer information verification, loyalty programs, service
activation, renewals, account inquiries, complaint resolutions, product information, and billing support. These services are aimed at seamlessly managing the
relationships between our clients and their customers in a manner that promotes customer retention and loyalty.
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Technical and Product Support. Our technical and product support service offering provides our clients’ customers with high-end technical support services
by telephone, e-mail, facsimile and the internet, 24 hours per day, seven days per week. Technical support inquiries are generally driven by a customer’s
purchase of a product or service, or by a customer’s need for ongoing technical assistance.
Sales Support. Through our sales support service, we strive to increase the revenue generation of our clients through cross-selling and up-selling our clients’
products to their customers. We have the ability to increase customer purchasing levels, implement product promotion programs, introduce our clients’
customers to new products, secure and process additional customer orders, contract renewal programs and handle inquiries related to product shipments and
billing.
Provisioning and Complex Order Processing. Our complex order processing services provide our clients with large scale project management and direct
relationship management for our clients’ large enterprise customers. This service includes order management and technical sales support for high-end
communications services, such as wire-line, wireless, data and customer premise equipment. In addition, we process order fallout from our clients’ automated
systems, complete billing review and revenue recovery, and perform quality assurance. Our services enable a client to provide large scale project
management and customer relations services to their customers in a more efficient and cost effective way.
Receivables Management. We provide billing, credit card support and first party collections through our receivables management services. These services
allow our clients to reduce the risk of nonpayment by automatically transferring the calls made by delinquent customers to us, at which point our
representatives encourage the customers to pay their bill in order to continue to receive service. Customers may bring their bill current through credit or debit
card payments, electronic checks or money orders. This service allows us to help our clients reduce their number of days sales outstanding and bad debt writeoffs.
Other. We provide other industry-specific processes including technical support, phone number portability and directory management. We provide number
portability services - when our clients’ customers wish to keep their phone number when changing service providers. Our phone number portability services,
which include both automated and live agent interaction, facilitate pre-port validation, data collection, automatic processing of port-out/in requests, direct
and automated interface with the service order activation platform, fallout management tool and port request tracking and archiving. We also provide 411
directory listing management services.
Technology
Our ability to deliver exceptional service to our clients is enhanced by our technology infrastructure, agent performance tools, analytics, self service
applications and technology professional services. Our technology support services include hosted IT infrastructure and application services encompassing
interactive voice response (“IVR”), virtual queuing, IP-PBX (a business telephone system that supports call delivery using voice over internet protocol
(VoIP)), workforce management, quality assurance monitoring, disposition tools, business intelligence reporting and eServices, including our e-mail, chat
and knowledge base capabilities. Through our technology, we are able to rapidly respond to ever-changing client demands in a tailored, yet cost-effective
and efficient manner. We are capable of handling large call volumes at each of our contact centers through our reliable and scalable contact center solutions.
We staff our IT personnel such that we can support our infrastructure and still have the capability to design programs to meet the specific needs of our clients.
CUSTOMER TRENDS
Through collaboration with our clients, we have observed a few emerging trends. Our clients are increasingly focused on: (1) improving client satisfaction
and retention; (2) improving the customer experience; and (3) increasing up-sell and cross-sell opportunities. We deliver a high level of customer
satisfaction as evidenced by our clients’ customer service awards and our clients’ ranking of StarTek relative to other outsourced partners. We have
demonstrated to our clients our success in increasing revenue per subscriber by the results of our up-sell and cross-sell methodologies during customer
interactions. Our clients value a combination of on-shore, near-shore, offshore and home agent delivery platforms. They realize the value of on-shore call
centers in North America for the cultural and language familiarity available, which improves the customer experience particularly in the case of voiceenabled services. An at home delivery platform is well received because of the quality of home agents and the ability to choose agents who are at a lower
cost than traditional call center agents. The talent pool, which is not limited by geography, allows us to choose the top candidates from those who apply.
The potential candidate’s skill set is also evaluated and matched with the kind of clients or work we have available to ensure the best fit. Given this demand,
we have invested in StarTek@Home technologies and plan to continue to grow our number of home agents during 2011. Customers also have a desire for
near-shore and offshore options in order to reduce their costs. In response to this demand for offshore solutions,
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we opened our first facility in the Philippines in 2008, and a second facility in 2010. Also in 2010, we opened a new facility in Costa Rica which will enable
us to provide a near-shore solution, as well as Spanish speaking capabilities.
KEY COMPETITIVE DIFFERENTIATORS
We offer a variety of customer management solutions that provide front to back-office capabilities utilizing the StarTek Choice delivery platform. StarTek
Choice includes onshore, near shore, offshore, and StarTek@Home sourcing alternatives. We also offer multi-channel interactions across voice, chat, email,
and IVR channels. Our solution configuration is aligned with our clients’ unique requirements. We are flexible in designing solutions around our clients’
strategic goals, and we provide experienced management teams that bring together a trained, productive workforce, equipped with the right tools and
technology. We believe that we are differentiated by our client centric culture, quality of our execution and results, our flexibility and competitive pricing.
Flexible and Nimble
StarTek is flexible and nimble as evidenced by our ability to provide a proactive response, creative solutions and the speed of execution to our clients’
customers. We partner with our clients and, as such, become an extension of them.
Superior Quality and Results
Quality execution is the driving force behind our culture. We are frequently ranked highly by our clients, but just as importantly, ranked highly by our
clients’ customers. We believe that we are a catalyst enabling our clients to earn the JD Power and other coveted industry quality awards. Our client’s
customer strategies are the driving force behind our solutions and their delivery. We seek to execute on our clients’ quality metrics and rank among the top of
all of their outsourced vendors, while continuing to be a cost effective solution. In order to achieve these goals, our program managers find ways to optimize
the effectiveness and efficiency of the delivery of our solutions.
Customer Centric
We manage customer relationships to increase loyalty and profitability for our clients. Loyal customers purchase more frequently, provide higher revenues
per purchase, acquire multiple products or services, refer our clients to others, and continue to purchase from our clients over long periods of time. Our
solutions derive more benefits from customer interactions by delivering increased customer satisfaction and revenue, which in turn leads to a higher return on
our client’s customer investments.
STRATEGY
We seek to become a market leader in providing high-value BPO services to our clients. Our approach is to develop relationships with our clients that are
partnering and collaborative in nature where we are focused, flexible and really listen to their business needs. In addition, we need to deliver creative
industry-based solutions to meet our clients’ ever changing business needs. The end result is the delivery a quality customer experience to our client’s
customers. To become a leader in the market, our strategy is to:
· grow our existing client base by deepening and broadening our relationships,
· add new clients and continue to diversify our client base by entering new vertical markets
· improve the profitability of our business through an increased percentage of revenues from our offshore operation, operational improvements,
increased utilization and right-sizing our North American operation,
· expand our global delivery platform to meet our client needs,
· broaden our service offerings by providing more innovative and technology enabled solutions,
· identify prudent acquisitions to expand our business scale and service offerings.
During 2010, we expanded our near-shore and offshore delivery platforms by opening a facility in Costa Rica during the first quarter of 2010 and our second
facility in the Philippines during the second quarter of 2010. We believe that diversifying our geographic platform will result in improved margins and
position us for future growth. In addition, in 2010 we continued to execute on our site optimization plan whereby we closed two unprofitable Canadian
facilities and closed four U.S. facilities in order to drive efficiencies and improve margins. Some of these closures were in response to lower client demand,
which is discussed further within “Clients” below. We will continue to evaluate the profitability of our North American locations as leases expire, and we will
close sites if necessary.
In 2010, we expanded our sales team, signed five new clients (many outside our traditional wireless and wireline vertical markets) and launched a number of
new programs with existing clients. We continued to invest in technologies to drive efficiencies in our
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operation and broaden our service offering. Finally, we actively explored business acquisitions that would allow us to accelerate our growth, reduce our
client concentration and diversify into new vertical markets.
HISTORY OF THE BUSINESS
StarTek was founded in 1987. At that time, our business was centered on supply chain management services, which included packaging, fulfillment,
marketing support and logistics services. On December 16, 2005, we sold our supply chain management services platform.
After our initial public offering on June 19, 1997, we began operating contact center services, which primarily focused on customer care, and grew to include
our current suite of offerings as described in the “Business Overview” section of this Form 10-K.
While our business is not generally seasonal, it does fluctuate quarterly based on our clients’ product offerings as well as their customer interaction volume.
See Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” for a more complete description of the seasonality of our business.
INDUSTRY
According to a September 2010 report published by IDC, a leading provider of industry research and market intelligence, it is estimated that worldwide
spending on customer care business process outsourcing services is expected to grow at a compound annual rate of 6.1% through 2014, which is lower than
prior forecasts. In a May 2010 IDC report, this estimate was 7.3% during the period 2010 to 2013. The worldwide global outsourced customer care market
was $62.2 billion in 2009. In the May 2010 IDC report, it was expected that the Philippines, U.S. home agent and Latin America markets would grow at the
fastest rate, with compound annual growth rates of 15%, 14% and 10%, respectively. The report also projected that the technology sector of customer care
would grow at the highest rate of 8.5%, followed by customer services at 6.9% and sales at 4.9% compound annual growth rates.
Outsourcing of non-core activities, such as those we provide, offers companies the ability to focus on their core competencies, leverage economies of scale
and control variable costs of the business while accessing new technology and trained expert personnel. As the business environment continues to evolve, it
has become more difficult and expensive for some companies to maintain the necessary personnel and product capabilities in-house to provide business
process services on a cost-effective basis. Accordingly, our anticipation is that outsourced customer care services will grow significantly in the coming years.
In general, we believe that industries having higher levels of customer contact and service volume, such as the communications industry, tend to be more
likely to seek outsourced services as a more efficient method for managing their technical support and customer care functions. We believe that outsourced
service providers, including ourselves, will continue to benefit from these outsourcing trends.
COMPETITION
We believe that our competitive differentiators are our flexibility, quality, results and customer centric focus. We compete with a number of companies that
provide similar services on an outsourced basis, including technical support and customer care companies such as APAC Customer Services, Inc.;
Teleperformance; Convergys Corporation; NCO Group; Aegis PeopleSupport; Sitel Corporation; Sykes Enterprises, Incorporated; TeleTech Holdings, Inc.,
Stream Global Services, Inc. and West Corporation. We compete with the aforementioned companies for new business and for the expansion of existing
business within the clients we currently serve. Many of these competitors are significantly larger than us in revenue, income, number of contact centers and
customer agents, number of product offerings, and market capitalization. We believe that while smaller than many of our competitors, we are able to compete
because of our flexibility and ability to react quickly and efficiently to integrate client technology into our contact centers. We believe our success is
contingent more on our quality of service than our overall size. We also compete with in-house process outsourcing operations of our current and potential
clients. Such in-house operations include customer care, technical support, internet operations and e-commerce support. As noted in our industry discussion,
market reports suggest that many outsourced services will continue to migrate to other countries with lower wages than those prevailing in the U.S.
Accordingly, our strategic objectives include expanding our geographic platform so that we may compete with those companies who have devoted
significant time and money to operating offshore. Several of our competitors merged during 2009 and 2010, which increased the size and reach of those
competitors, which may affect our competitive position. However, we believe there are integration challenges involved in consolidations, which may provide
us an opportunity to deliver superior customer service to our clients. Some competitors may offer a broader range of services than we do, which may result in
clients and potential clients consolidating their use of outsourced services with larger competitors, rather than using our services.
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Therefore, part of our strategy is to expand our service offerings by increasing our presence offshore, near-shore and with StarTek@Home agents, as well as
investing in new technologies which will enhance our competitive advantage. We primarily compete with the aforementioned companies on the basis of
price and quality. As such, our strategy continues to be to execute on our clients’ quality metrics and rank among the top of all of their outsourced vendors,
while continuing to be a cost effective solution. We view our competitive advantage as being a large enough company to offer the breadth of service
offerings that are often requested by our clients while, being agile enough to quickly respond to our clients’ needs.
CLIENTS
As mentioned previously, we seek to become the expert provider of outsourced customer care and related services for the communications industry and
believe that we possess expertise in servicing clients within that industry. Accordingly, more than 95% of our revenue is derived from customers within that
industry. Our two largest customers, AT&T Inc. (“AT&T”) and T-Mobile USA, Inc. (“T-Mobile”) (a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom), account for a
significant percentage of our revenue. While we believe that we have good relationships with these clients, a loss of a large program from one of these clients,
a significant reduction in the amount of business we receive from a principal client, renegotiation of pricing on several programs simultaneously for one of
these clients, the delay or termination of a principal clients’ product launch or service offering, or the complete loss of one or more of these principal clients
would adversely affect our business and our results of operations (see Item 1A. “Risk Factors”). The following table represents revenue concentration of our
principal clients:
2010

AT&T Services, Inc. and AT&T Mobility, LLC, subsidiaries of AT&T, Inc.
T-Mobile USA, Inc., a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom

Year Ended December 31,
2009

66.2%
18.1%

63.6%
21.5%

2008

55.0%
26.8%

We may not be able to retain our principal clients. If we were to lose any of our principal clients, we may not be able to timely replace the revenue generated
by them. Loss of a principal client could result from many factors, including consolidation or economic downturns in our clients’ industries, as discussed
further below.
In July 2010, we executed agreements with AT&T to ramp-down certain wireline services that we provide to them. Approximately 260 full-time equivalent
agent positions in two of our U.S. sites will be eliminated through the first half of 2011 as the business declines. We closed two sites, one in Greeley,
Colorado and one in Grand Junction, Colorado. Agents that serviced other customers or lines of business were relocated to our other facilities in Greeley and
Grand Junction.
Our work for AT&T is covered by several contracts for a variety of different lines of AT&T business. Some of these contracts expire in 2011 and others in
2012. Although we have negotiated extended terms for several of these contracts, others may not be extended past their initial terms. The initial term of our
master services agreement covering all AT&T work expired in January 2010 and has since been extended until July 1, 2011. After the initial term or any
extension term, the agreement automatically renews month-to-month thereafter. In October 2010, we entered into an agreement with AT&T for the renewal of
certain services we provide to them with regard to their wireless consumer customers. During 2010, this business represented approximately 52% of our
revenue with AT&T. The agreement is effective through September 1, 2012.
Our call center services agreement with T-Mobile became effective as of October 1, 2007 and had an initial term of two years. Although the initial term of
the contract ended on September 30, 2009, we entered into an amendment that extended the term through September 30, 2011. After the initial term or any
extension term, the contract automatically renews thereafter for successive one year periods, unless either party provides written notice of termination at least
60 days prior to the expiration of the then-current term. In August 2010, T-Mobile indicated that they would hold a formal process for selecting vendors for
approximately half of the work that we currently service along with an additional, significant opportunity for work that we do not currently perform for TMobile. We were selected to submit a full formal response and we did submit the response in December of 2010. In February of 2011, we were notified that
we were again selected to provide final pricing and comments to the proposed contracts. We expect a final decision to be made in the first quarter of 2011.
We expect to be selected as a continuing vendor for T-Mobile but we can provide no assurance that this will be the case nor that, if we are selected, we will be
selected to perform work at the level that we currently provide nor, that the terms of any new agreement will be comparable to those currently provided for
under our existing agreement. If we are not selected as a vendor, if we are selected as a vendor but at a significantly reduced level, or if the terms of any new
agreement are less favorable than the existing agreement, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. Until the process is complete, we continue to provide services to T-Mobile under the existing agreement.
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GOVERNMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
We are subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws in the states and territories in which we operate, including tax, environmental and other laws that
govern the way we conduct our business. There are risks inherent in conducting business internationally, including significant changes in domestic
government programs, policies, regulatory requirements, and taxation with respect to foreign operations, potentially longer working capital cycles,
unexpected changes in foreign government programs, policies, regulatory requirements and labor laws, and difficulties in staffing and effectively managing
foreign operations.
EMPLOYEES AND TRAINING
Our success in recruiting, hiring, training, and retaining large numbers of full and part-time skilled employees, and obtaining large numbers of hourly
employees during peak periods is critical to our ability to provide high quality outsourced services. We compete for labor with firms offering similar paying
jobs in the communities in which we are located, which includes other contact centers. During 2010 and 2009, we experienced difficulties hiring and
retaining agents as we faced economic pressures in and around certain of our site locations. Refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for further discussion of risks
surrounding our ability to recruit and retain personnel.
As of December 31, 2010, we employed approximately 8,900 employees. We believe the demographics surrounding our facilities, and our reputation,
stability, and compensation plans should allow us to continue to attract and retain qualified employees. None of our employees were members of a labor
union or were covered by a collective bargaining agreement during 2010.
CORPORATE INFORMATION
We were founded in 1987 and on June 19, 1997, we completed an initial public offering of our common stock. We conduct our business through our wholly
owned operating subsidiaries, StarTek USA, Inc., StarTek Canada Services, Ltd and StarTek International, Limited. We are a Delaware corporation
headquartered in Denver, Colorado. Our principal executive offices are located at 44 Cook Street, 4 th Floor, Denver, Colorado 80206. Our telephone number
is (303) 262-4500. Our website address is www.startek.com. Our stock currently trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol SRT.
WEB SITE AVAILABILITY OF REPORTS
Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) are available free of charge through our web site
(www.startek.com) as soon as practicable after we furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We also make available on the “Investor
Relations” page of our corporate website, the charters for the Compensation Committee, Audit Committee and Governance and Nominating Committee of
our Board of Directors, as well as our Corporate Governance Guidelines and our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct.
None of the information on our website or any other website identified herein is part of this report. All website addresses in this report are intended to be
inactive textual references only.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Over 80% of our revenue in 2010, 2009 and 2008, has been received from our two largest clients. The loss or reduction in business from any of these clients
would adversely affect our business and results of operations.
The following table represents revenue concentration of our principal clients:
2010

AT&T Services, Inc. and AT&T Mobility, LLC, subsidiaries of AT&T, Inc.
T-Mobile USA, Inc., a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom

Year Ended December 31,
2009

66.2%
18.1%
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63.6%
21.5%

2008

55.0%
26.8%

We may not be able to retain our principal clients. If we were to lose any of our principal clients, we may not be able to timely replace the revenue generated
by them. Loss of a principal client could result from many factors, including consolidation or economic downturns in our clients’ industries, as discussed
further below.
Refer to “Clients” in Item 1. for further discussion of our client contracts.
The future revenue we generate from our principal clients may decline or grow at a slower rate than expected or than it has in the past. In the event we lose
any of our principal clients or do not receive call volumes anticipated from these clients, we may suffer from the costs of underutilized capacity because of
our inability to eliminate all of the costs associated with conducting business with that client, which could exacerbate the effect that the loss of a principal
client would have on our operating results and financial condition. For example, there are no guarantees of volume under the current contract with AT&T. In
addition, the current contract with AT&T provides for a tiered incentive pricing structure that provides for lower pricing at higher volumes. Additional
productivity gains could be necessary to offset the negative impact that lower per-minute revenue at higher volume levels would have on our margins in
future periods.
Our client base is concentrated in the communications industry, which has recently experienced consolidation trends. As our clients’ businesses change as
a result of merger and acquisition activity, there is no guarantee that the newly formed companies will continue to use our services.
Consolidation in the communications industry may decrease the potential number of buyers for our services. Likewise, there is no guarantee that the acquirer
of one of our clients will continue to use our services after the consolidation is completed. We are particularly vulnerable on this issue given the relatively
few significant clients we currently serve and the concentration of these clients in the telecommunications industry. For example, in late 2006, our client,
AT&T acquired another of our clients, Cingular Wireless, LLC (now, AT&T Mobility, LLC), thereby further concentrating our revenue base. There can be no
assurance that AT&T Mobility, LLC, AT&T, or other subsidiaries of AT&T will continue to use our services in the future. If we lose principal clients or our
service volumes decrease as a result of principal clients being acquired, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely
affected. We expect to negotiate renewals of our contracts in due course; however, if any of such contracts or any order under such a contract is not
ultimately renewed, it would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Our client base is concentrated in the communications industry and our strategy partially depends on a trend of communications companies continuing to
outsource non-core services. If the communications industry suffers a downturn or the trend toward outsourcing reverses, our business will suffer.
Our current clients are almost exclusively communications companies, which include companies in the wire-line, wireless, cable and broadband lines of
business. Over 95% of our revenue in 2009 and 2010 was concentrated in the telecommunications industry. During 2010, we experienced lower call
volumes from our customers in the wire-line and wireless businesses which adversely affected our results. Currently, our business is largely dependent on
continued demand for our services from clients in this industry and on trends in this industry to purchase outsourced services. The recent economic
instability has weakened the demand for the products and services offered by our clients in the telecommunications sector and could continue to affect this
demand in the future which would consequently weaken the demand for our services. The weakened demand for our clients’ products and services could also
cause a slowdown or reversal of the trend in the telecommunications industry to outsource the services we provide. These factors could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, growth prospects, and financial condition in the future.
We face considerable pricing pressure in our business, and if we are not able to continually increase productivity, our gross margins and results of
operations may be adversely affected.
Our strategy depends in part on our ability to increase productivity. We face significant price pressure arising from our clients’ desire to decrease their
operating costs, and from other competitors operating in our targeted markets. Price pressure may be more pronounced during periods of economic
uncertainty. In addition, our contract with our largest customer currently contains a tiered pricing structure, under which pricing declines as service volumes
increase, creating increased pricing pressures in future years. Accordingly, our ability to maintain our operating margins depends on our ability to improve
productivity and reduce operating costs. If we are not able to achieve sufficient improvements in productivity to adequately compensate for potential price
decreases, our results of operations may be adversely affected.
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Our operating results may be adversely affected if we are unable to maximize our facility capacity utilization.
Our profitability is influenced by our facility capacity utilization. The majority of our business involves technical support and customer care services
initiated by our clients’ customers, and as a result, our capacity utilization varies, and demands on our capacity are, to some degree, beyond our control. We
have experienced, and in the future, may experience periods of idle capacity from opening new facilities where forecasted volume levels do not materialize.
In addition, we have experienced, and in the future, may experience idle peak period capacity when we open a new facility or terminate or complete a large
client program. These periods of idle capacity may be exacerbated if we expand our facilities or open new facilities in anticipation of new client business
because we generally do not have the ability to require a client to enter into a long-term contract or to require clients to reimburse us for capacity expansion
costs if they terminate their relationship with us or do not provide us with anticipated service volumes. From time to time, we assess the expected long-term
capacity utilization of our facilities. Accordingly, we may, if deemed necessary, consolidate or close under-performing facilities in order to maintain or
improve targeted utilization and margins. In 2010, we determined it was necessary to close facilities in Victoria, Texas, Laramie, Wyoming, Thunder Bay,
Ontario, Sarnia, Ontario, Greeley, Colorado and Grand Junction, Colorado. We have also announced the closure of our facility in Alexandria, Louisiana
during the first quarter of 2011. These closures result in lease termination costs, severance costs or impairment charges. During 2010, we recognized $2.8
million in impairment losses and restructuring charges related to these closures. We may incur further impairment losses and restructuring charges during
2011 related to our planned closures. There can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve or maintain optimal facility capacity utilization.
We generate revenue based on the demand for, and inquiries generated by, our clients’ products and services. If our clients’ products and services are not
successful or do not generate the anticipated call volumes, our revenue and results of operations will be adversely affected.
In substantially all of our client relationships, we generate revenue based on the amount of products and services demanded by our clients’ customers. The
amount of our revenue also depends on the number and duration of customer inquiries. Consequently, the amount of revenue generated from any particular
client is dependent upon consumers’ interest in and use of that client’s products or services. In addition, if the reliability of our clients’ products or services
increases as a result of technological improvements, the volume of calls that we service may be reduced. If customer interest in or increased reliability of any
products or services offered by our clients and for which we provide outsourced services result in reduced service volumes, our revenue would be diminished.
We utilize forecasts made by our clients based on demand from their customers. If the actual call volumes are materially lower than the forecasted volumes,
our financial results could be adversely affected.
In 2010, we expanded our capacity to include two new facilities. While the call volumes associated with these additional facilities ramped, we experienced
excess capacity and incurred additional costs as we worked towards bringing these facilities to normal operational levels. In 2010, we closed six facilities
and have recently announced one more site closure in the first quarter of 2011. If client demand declines due to economic conditions or otherwise, we would
not leverage our fixed costs as effectively, which would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Our existing and potential clients are currently decreasing the number of vendors they are using to outsource their business process services. If we lose
more business than we gain as a result of this vendor consolidation, our business and results of operations will be adversely affected.
Our existing clients and a number of clients we are currently targeting have been decreasing the number of firms they rely on to outsource their business
process outsourced services. We believe these clients are taking this action in order to increase accountability and decrease their costs, and under current
economic conditions, there is an increased risk that our clients will outsource their business process outsourced services to even fewer firms to reduce costs
further. If this consolidation results in us losing one or more of our clients, our business and results of operations will be adversely affected. In addition, this
consolidation could make it more difficult for us to secure new clients, which could limit our growth opportunities.
If we experience an interruption to our business, our results of operations may suffer.
Our operations depend on our ability to protect our facilities, computer equipment, telecommunications equipment, software systems and clients’ products
and confidential client information against damage from telecommunications interruption, power loss, fire, natural disaster, theft, unauthorized intrusion,
computer viruses, internet interruption, e-commerce interruption, bomb threats, terrorist attacks and other emergencies. Our locations in the Philippines are
exposed to a higher risk of weather related interruptions (including typhoon, flood and hurricane) than our North American operations. We maintain
procedures and contingency plans to minimize the detrimental impact of adverse events, but if such an event occurs, our procedures and plans
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may not be successful in protecting us from losses or interruptions. In the event we experience temporary or permanent interruptions or other emergencies at
one or more of our facilities, our business could suffer and we may be required to pay contractual damages to our clients or allow our clients to terminate or
renegotiate their arrangements with us. Although we maintain property and business interruption insurance, such insurance may not adequately or timely
compensate us for all losses we may incur. Further, our telecommunication systems and networks and our ability to timely and consistently access and use
telephone, internet, e-commerce, e-mail, facsimile connections and other forms of communication are substantially dependent upon telephone companies,
internet service providers, and various telecommunication infrastructures. If such communications are interrupted on a short- or long-term basis, our services
would be similarly interrupted and delayed.
Our operations in Canada, the Philippines and Costa Rica subject us to the risk of currency exchange fluctuations.
Because we conduct a material portion of our business in Canada and the Philippines, we are exposed to market risk from changes in the value of the
Canadian dollar and Philippine peso. For the smaller portion of our business that we conduct in Costa Rica, we are exposed to market risk from changes in the
value of the Costa Rican colon. Material fluctuations in exchange rates impact our results through translation and consolidation of the financial results of
our foreign operations and, therefore, may negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition. We have contracts wherein the revenue we
earn is denominated in U.S. dollars, but the costs we incur to fulfill our obligations under those contracts are denominated in Canadian dollars, Philippine
pesos and, to a lesser extent, the Costa Rican colon. Therefore, the fluctuations in the U.S. dollar to the Canadian dollar, Philippine peso or Costa Rican
colon exchange rates can cause significant fluctuations in our results of operations. During 2010, we engaged in hedging activities relating to our exposure
to such fluctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar and the Philippine peso versus the U.S. dollar. During 2010, we did not enter
into hedging agreements for the Costa Rican colon. We may participate in hedging activities in the future relating to the Canadian dollar, Philippine peso
and Costa Rican colon. However, currency hedges do not and will not eliminate our exposure to fluctuations in the currencies. In the past few years, there
have been large fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar against the value of the Canadian dollar. If the U.S. dollar weakens against the value of the
Canadian dollar, it would increase our costs and adversely affect our results from operations. Likewise, increases in the value of the Philippine peso or Costa
Rican colon, or currencies in other foreign markets in which we may operate in relation to the value of the U.S. dollar would further increase our costs and
adversely affect our results of operations.
Our contracts generally do not contain minimum purchase requirements and can generally be terminated by our customers on short notice without penalty.
We enter into written agreements with each client for our services. We seek to sign multi-year contracts with our clients. However these contracts generally
permit termination upon 30 to 90 days notice by our clients, they do not designate us as our clients’ exclusive outsourced services provider, they do not
penalize our clients for early termination, they hold us responsible for work performed that does not meet pre-defined specifications and they and do not
contain minimum purchase requirements or volume commitments. Accordingly, we face the risk that our clients may cancel or renegotiate contracts we have
with them, which may adversely affect our results. In addition, some contracts with our two largest clients either expire in 2011 or are currently under
negotiation for renewal, and we cannot guarantee that they will be extended or renewed. If a principal client cancelled or did not renew their contract with us,
our results would suffer. In addition, because the amount of revenue generated from any particular client is generally dependent on the volume and activity of
our clients’ customers, as described above, our business depends in part on the success of our clients’ products. The number of customers who are attracted to
the products of our clients may not be sufficient or our clients may not continue to develop new products that will require our services, in which case it may
be more likely for our clients to terminate their contracts with us. Moreover, clients who may not terminate their contacts with us without cause could
generally reduce the volume of services they outsource to us which would have an adverse effect on our revenue, results of operations and overall financial
condition.
If we are not able to hire and retain qualified employees, our ability to service our existing customers and retain new customers will be adversely affected.
Our success is largely dependent on our ability to recruit, hire, train, and retain qualified employees. Our business is labor intensive and, as is typical for our
industry, continues to experience high personnel turnover. Our operations, especially our technical support and customer care services, generally require
specially trained employees. During 2010, we continued to experience a high rate of employee turnover, which, in turn, requires significant recruiting and
training costs. Such turnover adversely affects our operating efficiency, productivity and ability to fully respond to client demand, thereby, adversely impact
our operating results. Some of this turnover can be attributed to the fact that we compete for labor not only with other call centers but also with other similarpaying jobs, including retail, oil and gas industry labor, food service, etc. As such,
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improvements in the local economies in which we operate can adversely affect our ability to recruit agents in those locations. Further increases in employee
turnover or failure to effectively address and remedy these high attrition rates would have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition.
The addition of new clients or implementation of new projects for existing clients may require us to recruit, hire, and train personnel at accelerated rates. We
may not be able to successfully recruit, hire, train, and retain sufficient qualified personnel to adequately staff for existing business or future growth,
particularly if we undertake new client relationships in industries in which we have not previously provided services. Because a substantial portion of our
operating expenses consists of labor-related costs, labor shortages or increases in wages (including minimum wages as mandated by the U.S. and Canadian
federal governments, employee benefit costs, employment tax rates, and other labor related expenses) could cause our business, operating profits, and
financial condition to suffer. In the past, some of our Canadian employees have attempted to organize a labor union and economic and legislative changes in
the U.S. may encourage organizing efforts in the future which, if successful, could further increase our recruiting and training costs and could decrease our
operating efficiency and productivity.
We may need to develop new products or services in order to compete for new customers or retain our existing customers.
If we are not able to develop new products or services, we may not be able to provide the same level of service provided by our competitors, which could
result in the loss of an existing client or being unable to generate new clients. If we are not able to develop new products and services, we could lose market
share or not be able to grow our business and diversify our revenue base and thereby reduce our reliance on our significant customers.
Failure to implement technological advancements could make our services less competitive.
Technologies that our clients or competitors already possess or may in the future develop or acquire may decrease the cost or increase the efficiency of
competing services. We believe that to remain competitive, we must continue to invest in technology to be able to compete for new business and maintain
service levels for clients. We may not be able to develop and market any new services that use, or effectively compete with, existing or future technologies,
and such services may not be commercially successful. Furthermore, our competitors may have greater resources to devote to research and development than
we do and, accordingly, may have the ability to develop and market new technologies with which we are unable to successfully compete.
Our operating costs may increase as a result of higher labor costs.
During the past economic downturns, we, like a number of companies in our industry, sought to limit our labor costs by limiting salary increases and payment
of cash bonuses to our employees. During 2010, the local economies in some of the locations in which we operate experienced growth, which caused us to
increase labor rates to remain competitive within the local economies. If these growth trends continue, we may need to further increase salaries or otherwise
compensate our employees at higher levels in order to remain competitive. Effective July 2009, the U.S. federal minimum wage was increased. The minimum
wage applicable to most of our operations in Canada is rising even more dramatically than in the U.S. Higher salaries or other forms of compensation are
likely to increase our cost of operations. If such increases are not offset by increased revenue, they will negatively impact our financial results. Conversely, if
labor rates decrease due to higher unemployment in the current economic downturn, our cost of operations may decrease. In the past, some of our Canadian
employees have attempted to organize a labor union, and economic and legislative changes in the U.S. may encourage organizing efforts in the future which,
if successful, could further increase our recruiting and training costs and could decrease our operating efficiency and productivity.
Our lack of a wide geographic diversity outside of North America may adversely affect our ability to serve existing customers or limit our ability to obtain
new customers.
Although we currently conduct operations in Canada, the Philippines and Costa Rica, we do not have a wide geographic diversity. Our lack of such diversity
could adversely affect our business if one or more of our customers decide to move their existing business process outsourcing services offshore. It may also
limit our ability to gain new clients who may require business process service providers to have this greater flexibility across differing geographies.
The movement of business process outsourcing services to other countries has been extensively reported in the press. Most analysts continue to believe that
many outsourced services will continue to migrate to other countries with lower wages than those prevailing in the U.S. Accordingly, unless and until we
continue to develop significant geographic diversity, we may be competitively disadvantaged compared to a number of our competitors who have already
devoted significant time and money to establishing extensive offshore operations.
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If we decide to open facilities in, or otherwise expand into, additional countries, we may not be able to successfully establish operations in the markets that
we target. There are certain risks inherent in conducting business in other countries including, but not limited to, exposure to currency fluctuations,
difficulties in complying with foreign laws, unexpected changes in government programs, policies, regulatory requirements and labor laws, difficulties in
staffing and managing foreign operations, political instability, and potentially adverse tax consequences. There can be no assurance that one or more of such
factors will not have a material adverse effect on our business, growth prospects, results of operations, and financial condition.
Continuing unfavorable economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
The current recent economic downturn and disruptions in the capital and credit markets in the U.S. and world economies have reduced consumer spending
and reduced spending by businesses and such spending has not yet returned to pre-downturn levels. Since our revenue is largely concentrated in the
telecommunications industry, and the majority of our business involves technical support and customer care services initiated by our clients’ customers, our
revenue is dependent on the amount of telecommunications products and services demanded by our clients’ customers. Consequently, a general reduction in
consumer demand for such products and services due to the recession in the domestic and international economies could reduce the demand for our services
and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
In addition, our existing clients and a number of clients we are currently targeting have been decreasing the number of firms they rely on to outsource their
business process outsourced services. Due to financial uncertainties and the potential reduction in demand for our clients’ products and services, our clients
and prospective clients may decide to further consolidate the number of firms on which they rely for their business process outsourced services to reduce
costs. Under these circumstances, our clients may cancel current contracts with us, or we may fail to attract new clients, which will adversely affect our
financial condition. In addition, they may seek price reductions on our contracts as means to lower their costs. If global economic and market conditions
remain uncertain or persist, spread, or deteriorate further, we may experience material impacts on our business, operating results, and financial condition.
If we do not effectively manage our growth or control costs related to growth, our results of operations will suffer.
We intend to grow our business by increasing the number of services we provide to existing clients by expanding our overall client base in current and new
vertical markets and, in the future, through merger and acquisition activity. Growth could place significant strain on our management, employees, operations,
operating and financial systems, and other resources. To accommodate significant growth we would be required to open additional facilities, expand and
improve our information systems and procedures, and hire, train, motivate, and manage a growing workforce, all of which would increase our costs. Our
systems, facilities, procedures, and personnel may not be adequate to support our future operations. Further, we may not be able to maintain or accelerate our
current growth, effectively manage our expanding operations, or achieve planned growth on a timely and profitable basis. During recent years, we incurred
costs related to excess capacity as we opened new facilities in anticipation of volume levels that did not materialize. As a result, our operating profits
declined, and our stock price was adversely impacted. If we are unable to manage our growth efficiently, or if growth does not occur, our business, results of
operations, and financial condition could suffer.
Increases in the cost of telephone and data services or significant interruptions in such services could adversely affect our business.
We depend on telephone and data services provided by various local and long distance telephone companies. Because of this dependence, any change to the
telecommunications market that would disrupt these services or limit our ability to obtain services at favorable rates could affect our business. We have taken
steps to mitigate our exposure to the risks associated with rate fluctuations and service disruption by entering into long-term contracts with various providers
for telephone and data services and by investing in redundant circuits. There is no obligation, however, for the vendors to renew their contracts with us or to
offer the same or lower rates in the future, and such contracts are subject to termination or modification for various reasons outside of our control. In addition,
there is no assurance that a redundant circuit would not also be disrupted. A significant increase in the cost of telephone services that is not recoverable
through an increase in the price of our services or any significant interruption in telephone services, could adversely affect our business.
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We have experienced significant management turnover and need to retain key management personnel.
In June 2010, we hired Chad A. Carlson as our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. In addition, in October 2010, we hired a new Senior
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary and in January 2011, we hired a new Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing. We filled several other key
management positions during 2008, 2009 and 2010. High turnover of senior management can adversely impact our client relationships, stock price, our
results of operations, and it may make recruiting for future management positions more difficult. In some cases, we may be required to pay significant
amounts of severance to terminated management employees. In addition, we must successfully integrate any new management personnel whom we hire
within our organization in order to achieve our operating objectives. Changes in other key management positions may temporarily affect our financial
performance and results of operations as the new management becomes familiar with our business. Accordingly, our future financial performance will depend
to a significant extent on our ability to motivate and retain key management personnel.
Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential client and customer data could expose us to protracted and costly litigation and penalties and may
cause us to lose clients.
We are dependent on IT networks and systems to process, transmit and store electronic information and to communicate among our locations around the
world and with our alliance partners and clients. Security breaches of this infrastructure could lead to shutdowns or disruptions of our systems and potential
unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. We are also required at times to manage, utilize and store sensitive or confidential client or customer
data. As a result, we are subject to contractual terms and numerous U.S. and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect this information, such as various
U.S. federal and state laws governing the protection of health or other individually identifiable information. If any person, including any of our employees,
negligently disregards or intentionally breaches our established controls with respect to such data or otherwise mismanages or misappropriates that data, we
could be subject to monetary damages, fines and/or criminal prosecution. Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential client or customer data,
whether through systems failure, employee negligence, fraud or misappropriation, could damage our reputation and cause us to lose clients. Similarly,
unauthorized access to or through our information systems or those we develop for our clients, whether by our employees or third parties, could result in
negative publicity, legal liability and damage to our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We process, transmit and store personally identifiable information and unauthorized access to or the unintended release of this information could result in
a claim for damage or loss of business and create unfavorable publicity.
We process, transmit and store personally identifiable information, both in our role as a service provider and as an employer. This information may include
social security numbers, financial and health information, as well as other personal information. As a result, we are subject to certain contractual terms as well
as federal, state and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect personally identifiable information. We take measures to protect against unauthorized
access and to comply with these laws and regulations. We use the internet as a mechanism for delivering our services to clients, which may expose us to
potential disruptive intrusions. Unauthorized access, system denials of service, or failure to comply with data privacy laws and regulations may subject us to
contractual liability and damages, loss of business, damages from individual claimants, fines, penalties, criminal prosecution and unfavorable publicity, any
of which could negatively affect our operating results and financial condition. In addition, third party vendors that we engage to perform services for us may
have an unintended release of personally identifiable information.
We face risks inherent in conducting business outside of North America.
Our operations in Canada accounted for 24.1% and 26.4% and 33.4% of our revenue in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Our operations in the Philippines
and Costa Rica accounted for 12.7%, 4.1% and 0.2% of our revenue in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. We opened our second facility in the Philippines
in April 2010 and our facility in Costa Rica in March 2010. An important component of our growth strategy is continued international expansion. There are
risks inherent in conducting business internationally, including but not limited to:
·
·
·
·
·
·

Competition from local businesses or established multinational companies, who may have firmly established operations in particular foreign
markets. This may give these firms an advantage regarding labor and material costs;
Significant changes in U.S. government programs, policies and regulatory requirements with respect to foreign operations or multinational
companies;
Potentially adverse U.S. or foreign tax consequences with respect to foreign operations;
Potentially longer working capital cycles;
Unexpected changes in foreign government programs or policies;
Regulatory requirements and labor laws;
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·
·
·

Difficulties in staffing and effectively managing foreign operations;
Political and social instability; and
Reluctance of our current or potential new clients to have us provide services to them from a location outside of North America.

One or more of these factors may have an impact on our international operations. Our lack of significant international operating experience may result in any
of these factors impacting us to a greater degree than they impact our competitors. To the extent one or more of these factors impact our international
operations, it could adversely affect our business, results of operations, growth prospects, and financial condition as a whole.
Various other risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may be exacerbated with regard to international operations, especially in countries
where we do not have well-established operations. Such risks include those related to the need to retain key management personnel, the inability to hire and
retain qualified employees, increases in operating costs, facility capacity utilization, management of growth and costs related to growth, geopolitical military
conditions, interruptions to our business, and the quality and cost of telephone and data services infrastructure.
We may need to add specialized sales personnel in order to grow our business. We may have difficulty recruiting candidates for these positions.
Our future growth depends on our ability to initiate, develop and maintain new client relationships, as well as our ability to maintain relationships with our
existing principal clients. To generate opportunities for new business from existing clients, as well as obtain new clients, we may need to hire specialized
sales and marketing staff to introduce new products and services. If we are unable to hire sales people with the specialized skills and knowledge needed to
attract new business, we would not be able to diversify our revenue base and thereby reduce our reliance on our significant customers.
Our largest stockholder has the ability to significantly influence corporate actions.
A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr., one of our co-founders, owned approximately 19.3% of our outstanding common stock as of February 15, 2011. Mr. Stephenson’s
spouse also owns shares of our common stock. Under an agreement we have entered into with Mr. Stephenson, so long as Mr. Stephenson, together with
members of his family, beneficially owns 10% or more but less than 30% of our outstanding common stock, Mr. Stephenson will be entitled to designate one
of our nominees for election to the board. In addition, our bylaws allow that any holder of 10% or more of our outstanding common stock may call a special
meeting of our stockholders. The concentration of voting power in Mr. Stephenson’s hands, and the control Mr. Stephenson may exercise over us as
described above, may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control that might otherwise benefit our stockholders.
Our stock price has been volatile and may decline significantly and unexpectedly.
The market price of our common stock has been volatile, and could be subject to wide fluctuations, in response to quarterly variations in our operating
results, changes in management, the degree of success in implementing our business and growth strategies, announcements of new contracts or contract
cancellations, announcements of technological innovations or new products and services by us or our competitors, changes in financial estimates by
securities analysts, the perception that significant stockholders may sell or intend to sell their shares, or other events or factors we cannot currently foresee.
We are also subject to broad market fluctuations, given the overall volatility of the current U.S. and global economies, where the market prices of equity
securities of many companies experience substantial price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of such
companies. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Additionally, because our common stock trades at
relatively low volume levels, any change in demand for our stock can be expected to substantially influence market prices thereof. The trading price of our
stock varied from a low of $3.77 to a high of $8.20 during 2010.
Our quarterly operating results have historically varied and may not be a good indicator of future performance.
We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience quarterly variations in revenue and operating results due to a variety of factors, many of which
are outside our control. These factors include, changes in the amount and growth rate of revenue generated from our principal clients; the timing of receipt of
payments from our clients; the timing of existing and future client product launches or service offerings; unanticipated volume fluctuations; expiration or
termination of client projects; timing and amount of costs incurred to expand capacity in order to provide for further revenue growth from existing and future
clients; and the seasonal nature of some clients’ businesses.
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If we are unable to renew or replace sources of capital funding on satisfactory terms, potential growth and results of operations may suffer.
We have a $10.0 million line of credit, which is scheduled to expire on August 1, 2011 (See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Contractual Obligations”). As of December 31, 2010, there was no balance
outstanding on the line of credit. We drew and repaid approximately $2.0 million on the line during 2010. However, if we are unable to renew the line of
credit or are unable to secure alternative sources of debt or capital financing under satisfactory terms, or at all, we may lose an important source of liquidity
and be unable to meet short-term cash needs required for growth opportunities. This may adversely impact our financial results. In addition, if we do not
meet the debt covenant requirements under the line of credit, we could face adverse effects on our financial statements, including payments for waivers or
higher interest rate obligations. We believe we will obtain financing to replace or extend this line of credit that will allow us to meet our short-term cash
needs. However, the weakened conditions of the U.S. credit markets may adversely impact our ability to obtain financing.
If we fail to integrate businesses and assets that we may acquire through acquisitions, we may lose clients, and our liquidity, capital resources and
profitability may be adversely affected.
We may pursue strategic acquisitions of companies with services, technologies, industry specializations, or geographic coverage that extend or complement
our existing business. Acquisitions and joint ventures often involve a number of special risks, including the following:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

We may encounter difficulties integrating acquired software, operations and personnel and our management’s attention could be diverted
from other business concerns;
We may not be able to successfully incorporate acquired technology and rights into our service offerings and maintain uniform standards,
controls, procedures and policies;
The businesses or assets we acquire may fail to achieve the revenue and earnings we anticipated, causing us to incur additional debt to fund
operations and to write down the value of acquisitions on our financial statements;
We may assume liabilities associated with the sale of the acquired company’s products or services;
Our resources may be diverted in asserting and defending our legal rights and we may ultimately be liable for contingent and other
liabilities, not previously disclosed to us, of the companies that we acquire;
Acquisitions may disrupt our ongoing business and dilute our ownership interest;
Acquisitions may result in litigation from former employees or third parties; and
Due diligence may fail to identify significant issues with product quality, product architecture, ownership rights and legal contingencies,
among other matters.

In addition, negotiation of potential acquisitions and the resulting integration of acquired businesses, products, or technologies, could divert management’s
time and resources. Future acquisitions could cause us to issue dilutive equity or incur debt, contingent liabilities, additional amortization charges from
intangible assets, asset impairment charges, or write-off charges for in-process research and development and other indefinite-lived intangible assets that
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2010, we owned or leased the following facilities, containing in the aggregate approximately 1.2 million square feet:
Properties

Year Opened

U.S. Facilities
Greeley, Colorado
Laramie, Wyoming
Grand Junction, Colorado
Greeley, Colorado
Enid, Oklahoma
Grand Junction, Colorado
Decatur, Illinois
Alexandria, Louisiana
Lynchburg, Virginia
Collinsville, Virginia
Denver, Colorado
Victoria, Texas
Mansfield, Ohio
Jonesboro, Arkansas
Canadian Facilities
Kingston, Ontario
Kingston, Ontario
Cornwall, Ontario
Regina, Saskatchewan
Sarnia, Ontario
Thunder Bay, Ontario
Philippine Facilities
Makati City, Philippines
Ortigas, Philippines
Costa Rica Facility
Heredia, Costa Rica

Approximate
Square Feet

Leased or Owned

1998
1998
1999
1999
2000
2000
2003
2003
2004
2004
2004
2008
2008
2008

35,000
22,000
46,350
88,000
47,500
54,500
37,500
40,000
38,600
49,250
23,000
54,100
31,000
65,400

Company Owned (g)
Company Owned (c)
Leased
Company Owned
Company Owned
Leased (h)
Leased
Leased (i)
Leased
Leased
Leased (a)
Leased (d)
Leased
Leased

2001
2001
2001
2003
2003
2006

49,000
20,000
73,800
62,000
37,200
33,000

Company Owned
Leased
Leased
Leased (b)
Leased (f)
Leased (e)

2008
2010

78,000
223,500

Leased
Leased

2010

37,000

Leased

(a) Company headquarters, which houses executive and administrative employees.
(b) Our Regina, Saskatchewan facility ceased operations in February 2009.
(c) Our Laramie, Wyoming facility ceased operations in January 2010.
(d) Our Victoria, Texas facility ceased operations in January 2010 and is currently being sublet through the remaining lease term.
(e) Our Thunder Bay, Ontario facility ceased operations in March 2010 and is currently being sublet through the remaining lease term.
(f) Our Sarnia, Ontario facility ceased operations in December 2010 and the lease expired in January 2011.
(g) Our Greeley, Colorado facility ceased operations in December 2010.
(h) Our Grand Junction, Colorado facility ramped down operations in December 2010.
(i) Our Alexandria, Louisiana facility ceased operations and the lease expired in February 2011.
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Substantially all of our facility space can be used to support any of our business process outsourced services. We believe our existing facilities are adequate
for our current operations. We intend to maintain efficient levels of excess capacity to enable us to readily provide for needs of new clients and increasing
needs of existing clients. We hold unencumbered, fee simple title to our company-owned facilities.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We have been involved from time to time in litigation arising in the normal course of business, none of which is expected by management to have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
ITEM 4. [REMOVED AND RESERVED.]
Part II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES
MARKET FOR COMMON STOCK
Our common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SRT” since the effective date of our initial public offering on
June 19, 1997. The following table shows the high and low closing sales prices for our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the periods
shown:
High

2010
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2009
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Low

$
$
$
$

8.20
7.65
5.18
5.89

$
$
$
$

6.53
3.77
3.85
4.05

$
$
$
$

4.78
8.60
9.88
8.34

$
$
$
$

2.25
3.15
6.87
5.76

HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK
As of February 15, 2011, there were 80 stockholders of record and 15,120,895 shares of common stock outstanding. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” set forth in
this Form 10-K for a discussion of risks related to control that may be exercised over us by our principal stockholders.
DIVIDEND POLICY
On January 22, 2007, our board of directors announced it would not declare a quarterly dividend on our common stock in the first quarter of 2007, and did
not expect to declare dividends in the near future, making the dividend paid in November 2006 the last quarterly dividend that will be paid in the foreseeable
future. We plan to invest in growth initiatives in lieu of paying dividends.
STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM
Effective November 4, 2004, our board of directors authorized repurchases of up to $25 million of our common stock. The repurchase program will remain in
effect until terminated by the board of directors, and will allow us to repurchase shares of our
common stock from time to time on the open market, in block trades and in privately-negotiated transactions. Repurchases will be implemented by the Chief
Financial Officer consistent with the guidelines adopted by the board of directors, and will depend on market conditions and other factors. Any repurchased
shares will be held as treasury stock, and will be available for general
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corporate purposes. Any repurchases will be made in accordance with SEC rules. As of the date of this filing, no shares have been repurchased under this
program.
STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock over the past five years with the cumulative total return of the New
York Stock Exchange Composite Index (“NYSE Composite”) and of the Russell 2000 Index (“Russell 2000”) over the same period. We do not believe stock
price performance shown on the graph is necessarily indicative of future price performance.

The information set forth under the heading “Stock Performance Graph” is not deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or subject to
the SEC’s proxy rules or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and the graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of
our prior or subsequent filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto which are included in Item
8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data,” of this Form 10-K. Additionally, the following selected financial data should be read in
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” which is included in Item 7.
Due to the February 2009 sale of our subsidiary, Domain.com, the results of operations related to this line of business has been reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented below.
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2010

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating (loss) income
Net interest and other income (expense)
(Loss) income from continuing operations before income
taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income

$

2009

265,376
237,672
27,704
43,281
2,835
(18,412)
273

$

(18,139)
1,244
(19,383)
—
(19,383)

Net (loss) income per share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Net (loss) income per share including discontinued
operations:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007
(In thousands, except per share data)

288,980
239,879
49,101
43,196
6,437
(532)
(210)

$

(742)
(751)
9
4,640
4,649

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

14,903
14,903

$

272,338
238,346
33,992
40,814
9,225
(16,047)
55

$

(15,992)
(6,301)
(9,691)
(210)
(9,901)

0.00
0.00

$
$

0.31
0.31

$
$

14,792
14,837

$

2006

244,615
205,920
38,695
38,991
4,325
(4,621)
745

$

237,115
201,310
35,805
30,247
—
5,558
2,126

$

(3,876)
(719)
(3,157)
326
(2,831)

$

7,684
2,159
5,525
239
5,764

(0.66)
(0.66)

$
$

(0.21)
(0.21)

$
$

0.38
0.38

(0.67)
(0.67)

$
$

(0.19)
(0.19)

$
$

0.39
0.39

14,713
14,713

14,696
14,696

14,680
14,714

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Total debt
Total stockholders’ equity

$
$
$

132,755
—
100,647

$
$
$

149,068
—
116,716

$
$
$

146,864
6,494
107,019

$
$
$

155,458
11,355
118,214

$
$
$

155,735
15,968
118,382

Other Selected Financial Data:
Capital expenditures, net of proceeds
Depreciation
Cash dividends declared per common share

$
$
$

16,942
17,155
—

$
$
$

14,683
15,977
—

$
$
$

27,979
17,803
—

$
$
$

15,207
17,092
—

$
$
$

19,767
16,758
1.11
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this annual report.
OVERVIEW
StarTek is a provider of business process outsourcing services. We partner with our clients to meet their business objectives and improve customer retention,
increase revenues and reduce costs through an improved customer experience. Our solutions leverage industry knowledge, best business practices, skilled
agents, proven operational excellence and flexible technology. The StarTek comprehensive service suite includes customer care, sales support, complex
order processing, accounts receivable management, technical and product support and other industry-specific processes.
We seek to become a market leader in providing high-value BPO services to our clients. Our approach is to develop relationships with our clients that are
partnering and collaborative in nature where we are focused, flexible and really listen to their business needs. In addition we need to deliver creative
industry-based solutions to meet our clients’ ever changing business needs. The end result is the delivery a quality customer experience to our client’s
customers. To become a leader in the market, our strategy is to:
· grow our existing client base by deepening and broadening our relationships,
· add new clients and continue to diversify our client base by entering new vertical markets
· improve the profitability of our business through an increased percentage of revenues from our offshore operation, operational improvements,
increased utilization and right-sizing our North American operation,
· expand our global delivery platform to meet our client needs,
· broaden our service offerings by providing more innovative and technology enabled solutions,
· identify prudent acquisitions to expand our business scale and service offerings.
During 2010, we expanded our near-shore and offshore delivery platforms by opening a facility in Costa Rica during the first quarter of 2010 and our second
facility in the Philippines during the second quarter of 2010. We believe that diversifying our geographic platform will result in improved margins and
position us for future growth. In addition, in 2010 we continued to execute on our site optimization plan whereby we closed two unprofitable Canadian
facilities and closed four U.S. facilities in order to drive efficiencies and improve margins. Some of these closures were in response to lower client demand,
which is discussed further within “Clients” of Item 1 of this Form 10-K. We will continue to evaluate the profitability of our North American locations as
leases expire, and we will close sites if necessary. In 2010, we expanded our sales team, signed five new clients (many outside our traditional wireless and
wireline vertical markets) and launched a number of new programs with existing clients. We continued to invest in technologies to drive efficiencies in our
operation and broaden our service offering. Finally, we actively explored business acquisitions that would allow us to accelerate our growth, reduce our
client concentration and diversify into new vertical markets.
We operate within three business segments: U.S., Canada and Offshore. The business segments align with the regions in which our services are rendered. As
of December 31, 2010, our U.S. segment included the operations of ten facilities in the U.S.; our Canada segment included the operations of three facilities in
Canada; and our Offshore segment included the operations of two facilities in the Philippines and one in Costa Rica. As of December 31, 2009, there were
thirteen, five and one facilities in the U.S., Canada and Offshore segments, respectively. As of December 31, 2008, there were thirteen, six and one facilities
in the U.S., Canada and Offshore segments, respectively. We use gross profit as our measure of profit and loss for each business segment and do not allocate
selling, general and administrative expenses to our business segments.
Overall economic conditions have impacted the telecommunications industry and our clients. We have continued to notice a downturn in this sector which
adversely affected our results in 2010. The growth in wireless subscribers appears to be slowing, and our clients serving traditional “wireline,” or landline
telephone services, are experiencing decreased demand. We observed lower call volumes in our North American facilities in 2010 from our two largest
customers compared to 2009, which adversely affected our results. However, in 2010, we have seen strong demand for our Offshore call center services,
primarily in the Philippines, which we expect to continue.
In response to overall economic conditions and the industry slowdown, we have observed a greater focus on cutting costs by our customers. The cost cutting
by our customers impacted us during the second quarter of 2010 when AT&T decided to ramp down a majority of its wireline business with us.
Approximately 260 full-time equivalent agent positions will be eliminated through the
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first half of 2011 as the business declines. We closed two sites, one in Greeley, Colorado and one in Grand Junction, Colorado. Agents that serviced other
customers or lines of business were relocated to our other facilities in Greeley and Grand Junction.
We have observed that in order to reduce their costs, customers are concentrated on 1) shifting a larger portion of their customer care offshore, 2) increasing
their use of outsourced providers and 3) decreasing the number of agents handling calls. In addition, the telecommunications space continues to shift away
from wireline services, to wireless services as many consumers disconnect their home telephone lines in favor of using wireless devices, leading to lower call
volumes among wireline clients. These telecommunications industry trends could adversely impact our financial results in 2011; however, the shift toward
outsourced and offshore providers could positively impact our business because of our increased presence in Costa Rica and the Philippines. Given that over
95% of our revenue is concentrated in the telecommunications industry, the speed and intensity in which these trends develop could adversely affect our
business. Our strategy includes expanding into other vertical markets, including cable, healthcare, technology and energy, diversifying our client base in
order to reduce our exposure to the risks relating to the telecommunications industry, and expanding our offshore platform to keep pace with the anticipated
higher demand for those services.
SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENTS DURING THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
New Facilities
One component of our strategy is to expand our global delivery platform by growing offshore and near-shore. Management believes that expansion into
international locations will broaden our service delivery platform and build our competitive advantage. These new facilities are described below.
·

Ortigas, Philippines: We opened our second facility in the Philippines in April 2010. Management decided to open this facility based upon client
demand experienced with our first facility, which opened in 2008. We have found that our customers are interested in this lower cost alternative.
The lease has an initial term of five years with a tenant option for an additional five years and is approximately 223,500 square feet.

·

Heredia, Costa Rica: We opened our first facility in Costa Rica in March 2010. Management chose Costa Rica for its large, well-educated
bilingual talent pool and good business climate. The facility is located in Heredia, Costa Rica and is approximately 37,000 square feet.

Site Closures
We endeavor to achieve site optimization at all of our locations by routinely evaluating site performance. As lease terms expire, or if local economic
conditions, prevailing wage rates, or other factors negatively impact the long-term financial viability of a location, management will from time to time make
the decision to close a facility. In connection with these site optimization efforts, as well as lower client demand discussed above, management made the
decision to close the following sites during 2010:
·

Laramie, Wyoming: In January 2010, we closed our facility in Laramie, Wyoming. The closure resulted in approximately $2.4 million less
revenue during 2010 compared to 2009, and increased gross profit by $0.3 million, compared to 2009 due to negative gross profit at this facility in
2009. We have transitioned the work either to StarTek’s @Home platform, whereby agents work from their homes, or our Greeley, Colorado facility.
We incurred restructuring and impairment charges of approximately $0.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2010. We own our facility in
Laramie, Wyoming and have committed to a plan to sell the building in this location. Therefore, we reclassified these long-lived assets as current
assets held for sale on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

·

Victoria, Texas: In January 2010, we closed our facility in Victoria, Texas. The closure was driven by the loss of a client program, resulting from
lower call volumes from our second largest client. The closure resulted in approximately $9.7 million less revenue during 2010 compared to 2009,
and increased gross profit by $0.9 million, compared to 2009, due to negative gross profit at this facility in 2009. We incurred restructuring and
impairment charges of approximately $2.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2010. In 2010, we entered into a sublease agreement for this
facility through the remainder of the lease term.

·

Thunder Bay, Ontario: In March 2010, we closed our Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada location. The closure in Thunder Bay was driven by market
conditions, namely recruiting challenges in this location, which negatively impacted the
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profitability of the location and led to management’s determination that it was in our long-term interest to close the location. The closure resulted in
approximately $4.3 million less revenue during 2010 compared to 2009, and increased gross profit by $0.5 million, compared to 2009, due to
negative gross profit at this facility in 2009. We recorded approximately $1.7 million in impairment losses in 2009 related to assets held at this
facility because the carrying value of the assets was not recoverable. We recorded an offset to restructuring and impairment charges of
approximately $0.2 million in 2010 for the reversal of certain deferred rent liabilities, partially offset by additional impairment and restructuring
charges. In 2010, we entered into a sublease agreement for this facility through the remainder of the lease term.
·

Sarnia, Ontario: In December 2010, we closed our Sarnia, Ontario location. The closure was driven by market conditions, namely recruiting
challenges in this location, which negatively impacted the profitability of the location and led to management’s determination that it was in our
long-term interest to close the location. The ramp-down of this site during 2010 resulted in approximately $5.9 million less revenue during 2010
compared to 2009, and decreased gross profit by $3.1 million, compared to 2009. We recorded approximately $0.3 million in impairment losses and
restructuring charges during the year ended December 31, 2010.

·

Greeley, Colorado: In December 2010, we ramped down one of our Greeley, Colorado locations. The closure was driven by the loss of a majority
of our wireline business with AT&T, described above. Agents in this site that serviced other customers or lines of business were relocated to our
other facility in Greeley, Colorado. The ramp-down of this site during 2010 resulted in approximately $3.7 million less revenue during 2010
compared to 2009, and decreased gross profit by approximately $1.0 million, compared to 2009. We recorded approximately $0.2 million in
impairment losses and restructuring charges during the year ended December 31, 2010. We own our facility in Greeley and have committed to a
plan to sell the building in this location. Therefore, we reclassified these long-lived assets as current assets held for sale on our Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

·

Grand Junction, Colorado: In December 2010, we ramped down one of our Grand Junction, Colorado locations. The closure was driven by the
loss of a majority of our wireline business with AT&T, described above. Agents in this site that serviced other customers or lines of business were
relocated to our other facility in Grand Junction, Colorado. The ramp-down of this site during 2010 resulted in approximately $1.8 million less
revenue during 2010 compared to 2009, and decreased gross profit by $0.9 million, compared to 2009. We recorded approximately $0.7 million in
impairment losses and restructuring charges during the year ended December 31, 2010.

·

Other: During 2010, we recorded a reduction of restructuring charges in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations of $1.8 million to
adjust the estimated restructuring liability for our Regina, Saskatchewan facility, which closed in February 2009, due to a sublease proposal. We
had previously assumed that we would not be able to sublease the facility. We also recorded approximately $0.8 million in impairment losses for
assets at other locations in which the future cash flows were less than the carrying value of the assets. We may make the decision to close certain of
these locations, in which case, we may incur restructuring charges in future periods.

Other Events
Income Tax Valuation Allowance
During 2010 we did not record $9.2 million, or $0.62 per share, in income tax benefits related to a valuation allowance against U.S. net deferred tax assets.
U.S. GAAP requires that we assess whether a valuation allowance should be established against our deferred tax assets based on the consideration of all
available evidence using a “more likely than not” standard. In making such judgments, significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively
verified. Based on all available evidence, in particular our three-year historical cumulative losses, recent operating losses and a 2010 U.S. pre-tax loss, we
recorded a valuation allowance against our net deferred tax asset. The recording of a valuation allowance has no impact on cash and does not preclude us
from utilizing the full amount of the deferred tax asset in future profitable periods.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In February 2011, we closed our facility in Alexandria, Louisiana due to lower call volumes from our second largest client. The lease expired in
February 2011.
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On March 1, 2011, we reached an agreement with UMB Bank to amend our line of credit agreement, whereby, the secured line of credit will be reduced from
$15 million to $10 million. Under the agreement, our financial covenant to maintain a minimum tangible net worth will be decreased from at least $100
million to at least $90 million. In addition, borrowings will bear interest at the thirty day LIBOR index plus 2.50% and shall never be less than 4.00% per
annum. This is an increase from the previous terms which were that borrowings bore interest, at the option at the time of borrowing, of the thirty, sixty or
ninety day LIBOR index, plus 1.75% and that the interest rate wouldn’t be less than 3.25% per annum. We expect to finalize this amendment in March 2011
and it will be effective through August 1, 2011.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009
Due to the February 2009, sale of our subsidiary, Domain.com, the results of operations related to this line of business have been reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented below.
The following table presents selected items from our Consolidated Statements of Operations in thousands of dollars and as a percentage of revenue for the
periods indicated:
Year Ended
December 31, 2010

Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating loss
Net interest and other income (expense)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income

$

$

% of
Revenue

265,376
237,672
27,704
43,281
2,835
(18,412)
273
(18,139)
1,244
(19,383)
—
(19,383 )

Year Ended
December 31, 2009

100.0% $
89.6%
10.4%
16.3%
1.0%
-6.9%
0.1%
-6.8%
0.5%
-7.3%
0.0%
-7.3 % $

288,980
239,879
49,101
43,196
6,437
(532)
(210)
(742)
(751)
9
4,640
4,649

The following table summarizes our revenues and gross profit for the periods indicated, by reporting segment:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2010
(in 000s)

United States:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Canada:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Offshore:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %

$
$

$
$

$
$

2009
(% of Total)

(in 000s)

(% of Total)

167,680
142,656
25,024
14.9%

63.2% $
60.0%
90.3% $

200,737
164,472
36,265
18.1%

69.5%
68.6%
73.9%

64,010
59,889
4,121
6.4%

24.1% $
25.2%
14.9% $

76,307
64,397
11,910
15.6%

26.4%
26.8%
24.3%

33,686
35,127
(1,441)
-4.3%

12.7% $
14.8%
-5.2% $

11,936
11,010
926
7.8%

4.1%
4.6%
1.8%
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% of
Revenue

100.0%
83.0%
17.0%
14.9%
2.2%
-0.2%
-0.1%
-0.3%
-0.3%
0.0%
1.6%
1.6 %

% change
2009 to 2010

-8.2%
-0.9%
-43.6%
0.2%
-56.0%
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM

Revenue
Revenue decreased by $23.6 million, or 8.2%, from $289.0 million in 2009 to $265.4 million in 2010. The decrease was driven by the U.S. and Canadian
segments. Revenue in the U.S. segment decreased by 16.5%, or $33.1 million, due in part to three site closures during the year. Our closures in the first
quarter 2010 in Laramie, Wyoming and Victoria, Texas resulted in a decline in revenue of $12.2 million. In addition, we ramped down two sites in 2010 due
to the loss of certain wireline business with our largest client. The ramp-down of these programs resulted in $5.4 million less revenue in these sites during
2010, compared to 2009. We also announced in the fourth quarter that we may close our Alexandria, Louisiana facility in February 2011 due to lower call
volumes from our second largest client, the resulting ramp-down of this site resulted in $2.1 million less revenue in 2010, compared to 2009. The remaining
decrease of $13.4 million was driven by lower call volumes from our two largest wireless clients and wireline clients. Revenue from Canada decreased by
$12.3 million, or 16.1%. The decline was driven by the ramp-down and closure of three sites in Canada (Regina, Saskatchewan in February 2009, Thunder
Bay, Ontario in March 2010 and Sarnia, Ontario in December 2010) which contributed $11.0 million less revenue during 2010, compared to 2009. The
remainder of the decrease in the Canadian segment was due to lower North American call volumes from our two largest clients. Offshore revenue increased
$21.8 million from $11.9 million to $33.7 million due primarily to two new facilities opened there in 2010. In March 2010, we opened our site in Costa Rica
and in April 2010, we opened our second site in the Philippines, which combined contributed $12.7 million in incremental revenue in 2010, compared to
2009. The remaining increase was driven by an increase in full-time equivalent agents in our other Philippine location.
Cost of Services and Gross Profit
Cost of services decreased by $2.2 million, or 0.9%, from $239.9 million in 2009 to $237.7 million in 2010. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue
decreased from 17.0% in 2009 to 10.4% in 2010. Cost of services in the U.S. decreased by approximately $21.8 million, or 13.3%, of which $17.0 million
related to the ramp-downs and site closures, discussed above. Cost of services in Canada decreased by approximately $4.5 million, or 7.0%. The decrease
was driven by a decline of $8.7 million in 2010, compared to 2009, for the three sites that closed in Canada during 2009 and 2010, described above. This
decline was partially offset by an increase in cost of services of $4.1 million due to a weaker U.S. to Canadian dollar exchange rate in 2010, compared to
2009. These decreases to cost of services were partially offset by greater cost of services in the Offshore segment, which increased by approximately $24.1
million. The increase was primarily due to higher cost of services associated with our new sites in Costa Rica and the Philippines, which increased cost of
services by approximately $15.5 million, and the ramp-up of our Makati, Philippine location which nearly doubled agent headcount in 2010, compared to
2009.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $0.1 million, or 0.2%, from $43.2 million in 2009 to $43.3 million in 2010. As a percentage of
revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses increased from 14.9% in 2009 to 16.3% in 2010. Selling, general and administrative expenses were
higher due to an approximately $3.0 million increase in base salary expense due in part to the hire of several executives and approximately $0.9 million in
severance expense recorded during the fourth quarter of 2010. These increases were partially offset by $0.6 million from the absence of expenses related to
the settlement of a shareholder lawsuit in 2009, and declines of $0.9 million in hiring expense, $0.4 million in legal expense, $0.4 million in contract labor,
and $1.4 million related to payroll processing, personnel expense, consulting fees, training and travel expenses.
Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges
Impairment losses and restructuring charges totaled $2.8 million and $6.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We
recorded $4.1 million in impairment charges during 2010 related to our North American sites that we closed related to long-lived assets at these locations for
which the carrying value is not recoverable and related to other sites in which future cash flows do not support the carrying value of the assets. These charges
totaled $3.2 million in our U.S. segment and $0.9 million in our Canadian segment. We incurred approximately $0.5 million of restructuring charges,
primarily in our U.S. segment, related to the above mentioned site closures. The impairment losses and restructuring charges were offset by a $1.8 million
reduction due to a change in the sublease estimate at one of our Canadian facilities. We recorded approximately $1.7 million in impairment losses during
2009 in our Canadian segment due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable and
restructuring charges totaled $4.7 million in 2009, related primarily to the February 2009 closure of our Regina, Saskatchewan facility.
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Operating Loss
We incurred operating losses of approximately $18.4 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The increase
in the loss period over period was driven by the decrease in revenue and gross profit, partially offset by fewer impairment losses and restructuring charges, as
discussed previously.
Net Interest and Other Income (Expense)
Net interest and other income was approximately $0.3 million in 2010, compared to net interest and other expense of $0.2 million in 2009. The change was
primarily due to a decrease in interest expense of approximately $0.2 million period over period due to the pay-off of certain notes payable in 2009, and a
realized gain of approximately $0.1 million for the partial recovery of a previously impaired investment.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
The provision for income taxes of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 reflects the establishment of a valuation allowance for substantially all
of our U.S. net deferred tax assets. During 2010, we evaluated all positive and negative evidence related to our ability to utilize our U.S. deferred tax assets
and recorded a valuation allowance due to our three-year historical cumulative losses, recent operating losses and a 2010 U.S. pre-tax loss, which reduced the
income tax benefit by $9.2 million in 2010.
Income from Discontinued Operations, net of tax
Income from discontinued operations was approximately $4.6 million in 2009. In February 2009, we sold Domain.com, a then wholly owned subsidiary, for
cash of approximately $7.1 million. We had a gain on the sale of approximately $6.9 million, less taxes of $2.3 million, resulting in income of $4.6 million.
Net (Loss) Income
Net loss was approximately $19.4 million in 2010 and net income was approximately $4.6 million in 2009. The change was primarily due to lower revenue
and gross margin, the absence of income from discontinued operations and greater tax expense, partially offset by less impairment and restructuring charges,
as discussed previously.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND DECEMBER 31, 2008
Due to the February 2009, sale of our subsidiary, Domain.com, the results of operations related to this line of business have been reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented below.
The following table presents selected items from our Consolidated Statements of Operations in thousands of dollars and as a percentage of revenue for the
periods indicated:
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Year Ended
December 31, 2009

Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating loss
Net interest and other (expense) income
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)

$

% of
Revenue

288,980
239,879
49,101
43,196
6,437
(532)
(210)
(742)
(751)
9
4,640
4,649

$

Year Ended
December 31, 2008

100.0% $
83.0%
17.0%
14.9%
2.3%
-0.2%
-0.1%
-0.3%
-0.3%
0.0%
1.6%
1.6 % $

% of
Revenue

272,338
238,346
33,992
40,814
9,225
(16,047)
55
(15,992)
(6,301)
(9,691)
(210)
(9,901 )

100.0%
87.5%
12.5%
15.0%
3.4%
-5.9%
0.0%
-5.9%
-2.3%
-3.6%
0.0%
-3.6 %

% change
2008 to 2009

6.1%
0.6%
44.4%
5.8%
-30.2%
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM

The following table summarizes our revenues and gross profit for the periods indicated, by reporting segment:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2009
(in 000s)

United States:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Canada:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Offshore:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %

$
$

2008
(% of Total)

(in 000s)

(% of Total)

200,737
164,472
36,265
18.1%

69.5% $
68.6%
73.9% $

180,761
150,302
30,459
16.9%

66.4%
63.1%
89.6%

76,307
64,397
11,910
15.6%

26.4% $
26.8%
24.3% $

90,929
86,001
4,928
5.4%

33.4%
36.1%
14.5%

11,936
11,010
926
7.8%

4.1% $
4.6%
1.8% $

648
2,043
(1,395)
-215.3%

0.2%
0.8%
-4.1%

$
$

$
$

Revenue
Revenue increased by $16.6 million, or 6.1%, from $272.3 million in 2008 to $289.0 million in 2009. The increase was driven by the U.S. and Offshore
segments. Revenue in the U.S. segment increased by 11.1%, or $20.0 million, due in part to three sites that were opened in 2008 that contributed a full year
of revenue in 2009, compared to only a portion of 2008. The incremental revenue in 2009 from these facilities was approximately $26.1 million. U.S.
revenue also increased due to the full ramp of a site which transitioned to a different customer in 2009 and contributed approximately $4.6 million of
additional revenue in 2009 compared to 2008. These increases to U.S. revenue were partially offset by 1) two U.S. site closures that occurred in 2008, and
contributed revenue of $13.2 million that year and 2) a decrease of $1.7 million due to layoffs and hiring freezes in certain locations in order to address
certain discrepancies in our hiring practices. The remaining increase of $4.2 million at the other U.S. facilities was driven by an increase in the number of
average full-time equivalent agents. Offshore revenue increased $11.3 million from $0.6 million to $11.9 million due to the ramp of our facility in Makati
City, Philippines which opened in September 2008. Average full-time equivalent agents increased from 20 in 2008 to 391 in 2009 as new business in the
facility was launched. Revenue from Canada decreased by $14.6 million, or 16.1%, due primarily to the closure of our Regina, Saskatchewan facility in
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February 2009, which had approximately $9.7 million less revenue during 2009 compared to 2008. In addition, revenue decreased by approximately $1.1
million due to changes in the foreign exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and Canadian dollar. The remainder of the decrease in the Canadian segment was
due to a decrease in the number of average full-time equivalent agents.
Cost of Services and Gross Profit
Cost of services increased by $1.6 million, or 0.6%, from $238.3 million in 2008 to $239.9 million in 2009. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased
from 12.5% in 2008 to 17.0% in 2009. The increase in gross profit was primarily due to better utilization in our U.S. and Offshore segments, and
improvement in the U.S. dollar to Canadian dollar foreign exchange rates. Cost of services in the U.S. increased by approximately $14.2 million, or 9.4%, of
which $5.8 million related to the three new sites, net of two closures, year over year as discussed above. Approximately $1.6 million of the increase in U.S.
cost of services was due to the transition of some services from U.S. agents to Offshore agents. The remainder of the U.S. increase was due to the increase in
other full-time equivalent agents, as described above. Cost of services increased by $9.0 million in 2009 compared to 2008 in the Offshore segment due to
the ramp of our Makati site. These increases to cost of services were offset by lower cost of services in Canada, which decreased by approximately $21.6
million, or 25.1%. Of this decrease $10.6 million was due to the closure of the Regina location. Additionally, cost of services decreased by $6.4 million in
2009 compared to 2008 due to a stronger U.S. to Canadian dollar exchange rate. The remaining decrease in the Canadian segment was due to fewer agents, as
described above.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $2.4 million, or 5.8%, from $40.8 million in 2008 to $43.2 million in 2009. As a percentage of
revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased slightly from 15.0% in 2008 to 14.9% in 2009. The increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses was primarily due to $1.7 million greater payroll expense driven by higher salary, bonus and stock based compensation expense.
The additional payroll expense was incurred primarily in the departments of information systems, business process improvement, and shared services, all
considered strategic to support our scaling operations. In addition, we incurred legal expense of $0.6 million in connection with the settlement of the federal
securities class action lawsuit, as well as a $0.5 million increase in hiring expense and $0.5 million in travel expense related primarily to the launch of new
sites. These increases were partially offset by declines in depreciation expense of $0.6 million and training expense of $0.4 million.
Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges
Impairment losses and restructuring charges totaled $6.4 million and $9.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. We
recorded approximately $1.7 million in impairment losses during 2009 in our Canadian segment due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which
the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable. These assets are located in Thunder Bay, Ontario, a facility that we subsequently decided to close in
January 2010. The long-lived assets include computer and telephone equipment, furniture and fixtures, leasehold improvements and software. We recorded
$5.9 million in impairment losses in 2008 due to impairment of certain long-lived assets ($4.1 million in the U.S. segment and $1.8 million in the Canadian
segment).
Restructuring charges totaled $4.7 million in 2009, related primarily to the February 2009 closure of our Regina, Saskatchewan facility. The costs relate
primarily to the building lease costs through the remainder of the lease term, or July 2013. Accrued restructuring costs were valued using a discounted cash
flow model and the cash flows consist of the future lease payment obligations required under the lease agreements and property taxes through the remainder
of the lease term. We assumed that we could not sublease the vacant facilities for the remainder of the lease term. In the future, if we are able to sublease the
facility, we may be required to record a gain in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. We recorded $3.3 million in restructuring charges in 2008 related
to the closure of our Hawkesbury, Ontario facility in 2007, our Big Spring, Texas facility in August 2008, and our Petersburg, Virginia facility in
December 2008 ($1.6 million related to the Canadian segment and $1.7 million related to the U.S. segment).
Operating Loss
We incurred operating losses of approximately $0.5 million and $16.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The decrease
in the loss period over period was driven by the increase in revenue and fewer impairment losses and
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restructuring charges, offset by the increase in cost of services and selling, general and administrative expenses, as discussed previously.
Net Interest and Other (Expense) Income
Net interest and other expense was approximately $0.2 million in 2009, compared to net interest and other income of $0.1 million in 2008. The change was
due primarily to a decrease in interest and investment income of approximately $1.1 million in 2009 compared to 2008 due to a decline in our investment
balance period over period. This change was partially offset by $0.3 million less of interest expense due to the pay-off of certain notes payable in 2009 and
$0.5 million in expense for other-than-temporary impairment on investments, which was recorded in 2008 and did not recur in 2009.
Income Tax Benefit
The effective rate for our tax benefit changed from 39.4% in 2008 to 101.2% in 2009. The primary reason for the change was the proportionately larger work
opportunity credits in relation to our pre-tax loss in 2009. Included in our income tax benefit in 2009 was approximately $1.6 million of work opportunity
credits, which increased from approximately $1.3 million in 2008, however, as a percentage of our pre-tax loss the effect was 142.6% on the effective rate in
2009 compared to 5.3% in 2008. Other factors in the rate included a decrease in the effect of state taxes, a decline in the Canadian statutory rate and a larger
amount of operations in countries in which we have been granted tax holidays, primarily the Philippines.
Loss from Discontinued Operations, net of tax
Income from discontinued operations was approximately $4.6 million during 2009 and loss from discontinued operations was approximately $0.2 million in
2008. In February 2009, we sold Domain.com, a wholly owned subsidiary, for cash of approximately $7.1 million. We had a gain on the sale of
approximately $6.9 million, less taxes of $2.3 million, resulting in the income of $4.6 million. The loss in 2008 was due to the write-off of an asset related to
the sale of our supply chain management services platform in December 2005 of $0.5 million, partially offset by $0.3 million of income from discontinued
operations related to Domian.com.
Net Income (Loss)
Net income was approximately $4.6 million in 2009 and net loss was approximately $9.9 million in 2008. The increase in net income was primarily due to
higher revenue, income from discontinued operations and fewer impairment and restructuring charges, partially offset by higher cost of services and selling,
general and administrative expenses and a decrease in the income tax benefit, as discussed previously.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As of December 31, 2010, working capital totaled $50.2 million and our current ratio was 2.82:1, compared to working capital of $60.4 million and a current
ratio of 3.42:1 at December 31, 2009.
We have historically financed our operations, liquidity requirements, capital expenditures, and capacity expansion primarily through cash flows from
operations, and to a lesser degree, through various forms of debt and leasing arrangements. In addition to funding basic operations, our primary uses of cash
typically relate to capital expenditures to upgrade our existing information technologies and service offerings and investments in our facilities. We believe
that cash flows from operations and cash provided by our line of credit will adequately meet our ongoing operating requirements for the next year. Due to the
timing of our collections of large billings with our major customers, we have historically needed to draw on our line of credit for ongoing operating activities.
On March 1, 2011, we reached an agreement with UMB Bank to amend our line of credit agreement, whereby, the amount available on the secured line of
credit will be reduced from $15 million to $10 million. The reduction in the amount available on the line was in response to a modification of certain
financial covenants. During the fourth quarter of 2010, we were out of compliance with our cash flow coverage ratio covenant, which was approximately
(16:1) compared to our requirement of greater than 1.50:1. We obtained a waiver of this covenant from UMB Bank. As of December 31, 2010, we were in
compliance with all other of our debt covenants. Our financial covenant to maintain a minimum tangible net worth will be decreased from at least $100
million to at least $90 million in the new agreement. In addition, borrowings will bear interest at the thirty day LIBOR index plus 2.50% and shall never be
less than 4.00% per annum. This is an increase from the previous terms which were that borrowings bore interest, at our option at the
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time of the borrowing, of the thirty, sixty or ninety day LIBOR index, plus 1.75% and that the interest rate wouldn’t be less than 3.25% per annum. We
expect to finalize this amendment in March 2011 and it will be effective through August 1, 2011. We do not expect the decline in the amount available on
the line to significantly impact our liquidity. During 2010, the cumulative borrowings on our line of credit were approximately $2.0 million. We do not
anticipate the need to place substantially more reliance on the line of credit during 2011. There was no balance outstanding on the line of credit as of
December 31, 2010.
Any significant future expansion of our business may require us to secure additional cash resources. If we enter into an acquisition, it may require us to use
our cash, draw on our line of credit or obtain additional financing, which could decrease cash available for operations. In addition, a decrease in demand for
our services, particularly from any of our principal clients, which could arise from a number of factors, including, but not limited to, competitive pressures,
adverse trends in the business process outsourcing market, industry consolidation, adverse circumstances with respect to the industries we service, and any of
the other factors we describe more fully in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K could adversely affect our business.

(in thousands)

2010

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

14,747
(16,091)
268
225
(851 )

Year Ended December 31,
2009

$

$

15,654
411
(6,849)
795
10,011

2008

$

$

11,616
(20,621)
(3,722)
(719)
(13,446 )

Our balance of cash and cash equivalents was $18.7 million at December 31, 2010, compared to a balance of $19.6 million at December 31, 2009.
CASH FLOWS — YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009
Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was $14.7 million in 2010, representing a decrease of $3.2
million from $18.0 million in 2009. The decrease of $3.2 million in cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was driven by the
following decreases: 1) $19.4 million decrease in income from continuing operations, 2) $5.9 million in deferred income taxes and 3) $2.7 million decrease
in the change in accrued liabilities due to fewer restructuring costs in 2010, compared to 2009. These decreases to cash provided by operating activities from
continuing operations were partially offset by the following increases:1) $9.3 million change due to a reduction in our income tax receivable year over year
resulting primarily from a large income tax refund collected in the first quarter of 2010, 2) $4.2 million lower accounts receivable period over period due to
timing of payments, 3) $4.1 million in higher accounts payable in 2010 compared to 2009 due to timing of payments and 4) $3.9 million greater change in
prepaid expenses which was relatively flat in 2010 but increased by $3.4 million in 2009 due primarily to an increase in maintenance contracts in 2009.
Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $16.1 million in 2010 compared to cash provided by investing activities of $0.4 million in
2009. The increase was primarily due to 1) the absence of proceeds from the sale of Domain.com of $7.1 million recorded in 2009, 2) a $7.4 million decrease
in the proceeds from the sale of investments and 3) an increase of $2.3 million in purchases of property, plant and equipment due to new site openings in
Costa Rica in March 2010 and the Philippines in April 2010.
Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.3 million in 2010 compared to cash used in financing activities of $6.8 million in
2009. The change was primarily due to the absence of payments on long-term debt which were $6.9 million in 2009 as we paid off two equipment loans in
the second quarter of 2009.
CASH FLOWS — YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND DECEMBER 31, 2008
Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $4.0 million from $11.6 million in 2008 to $15.7 million in 2009. Net cash
provided by operating activities from continuing operations was $18.0 million in 2009, representing an increase of $6.2 million from 2008. The increase of
$6.2 million in cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was driven by the following increases: 1) $14.5 million in deferred income
taxes, whereby the net deferred income tax asset declined by $7.0 million compared to an increase of $7.5 million in 2008 because of the utilization of net
operating loss carry forwards, 2) $3.7 million higher income from continuing operations after impairment losses and depreciation expense over
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2008 (net income from continuing operations improved by $9.7 million, partially offset by $6.0 million less impairment and depreciation expense) and 3)
$2.8 million of higher collections of accounts receivable period over period due to the timing of collections of large billings. These increases to cash
provided by operating activities from continuing operations were partially offset by the following decreases: 1) $7.3 million decrease in the change in
accrued liabilities year-over-year resulting from a larger increase in 2008 from restructuring charges and accrued payroll, 2) $3.2 million in greater income tax
receivable due to timing of tax payments and refunds, 3) $2.6 million greater increase in prepaids and other assets due primarily to an increase in
maintenance contracts and 4) $1.7 million in a smaller change in accounts payable due to fewer capital expenditures in 2009.
Investing Activities. Net cash provided by investing activities was $0.4 million in 2009 compared to cash used in investing activities of $20.6 million in
2008. The increase was due to 1) a $13.3 million decrease in purchases of property, plant and equipment due to no new site openings in 2009 compared to
the opening of four new sites in 2008, 2) proceeds from the sale of Domain.com of $7.1 million and 3) an increase in net proceeds from the sale of
investments, net of purchases, of $0.6 million.
Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities increased by $3.1 million, from $3.7 million in 2008 to $6.8 million in 2009. The increase was
due primarily to an increase in payments on long-term debt of $3.0 million resulting from the pay-off of our two equipment loans in the second quarter of
2009, partially offset by savings on principal payments since the pay-off of these loans.
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
Other than operating leases for certain equipment and real estate and commitments to purchase goods and services in the future, in each case as reflected in
the table below, we have no off-balance sheet transactions, unconditional purchase obligations or similar instruments and we are not a guarantor of any other
entities’ debt or other financial obligations. The following table presents a summary (in thousands), by period, of our future contractual obligations and
payments as of December 31, 2010:

Within
1 Year

Operating leases (1)
Capital leases (2)
Purchase obligations (3)
Total contractual obligations

$
$

10,828
103
454
11,385

1-2
Years

$
$

9,252
103
—
9,355

2-3
Years

$

7,879
20
—
7,899

$

3-4
Years

$
$

6,756
7
—
6,763

4-5
Years

$
$

2,915
—
—
2,915

Thereafter

$
$

7,949
—
—
7,949

Total

$
$
$
$

45,579
233
454
46,266

(1) We lease facilities and equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases. As of December 31, 2010, there was $1.7 million of minimum rentals
to be received in the future under non-cancelable subleases.
(2) We lease equipment under certain capital lease agreements.
(3) Purchase obligations include commitments to purchase goods and services that in some cases may include provisions for cancellation.
Line of Credit
On July 28, 2010, we entered into a business loan agreement and a promissory note (together the “Agreement”) with UMB Bank Colorado, N.A. (“UMB
Bank”), effective August 1, 2010 through August 1, 2011, to renew our $15 million secured revolving line of credit under a previous business loan agreement
with UMB Bank that expired by its terms on August 1, 2010. Under this agreement, borrowings bore interest, at our option at the time of the borrowing, of
the thirty, sixty or ninety day LIBOR index, plus 1.75%. The interest rate shall never be less than 3.25% per annum. Under this agreement, we granted UMB
Bank a security interest in all of our present and future accounts receivable, general intangibles, and owned real property. In addition, under this agreement,
we were subject to certain financial covenants, which include maintaining 1) a ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of less than 1.0 to 1.0, 2) a
tangible net worth of at least $100 million, 3) unencumbered liquid assets, defined as cash, certificates of deposit and marketable securities, of at least $10
million measured on the last day of each fiscal quarter and 4) a cash flow coverage ratio, as defined in the Agreement, of greater than 1.50 to 1.0 measured on
the last day of each fiscal quarter for the previous twelve months. During the fourth quarter of 2010, we were out of compliance with our cash flow coverage
ratio covenant. We obtained a waiver of this covenant from UMB Bank. As of December 31, 2010, we were in compliance with all other of our debt
covenants.
On March 1, 2011, we reached an agreement with UMB Bank to amend the Agreement, whereby, the secured line of credit will be reduced to $10 million. In
addition, borrowings will bear interest, at the thirty day LIBOR index plus 2.50%. The interest rate
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shall never be less than 4.00% per annum. Under the amendment, UMB Bank will retain a security interest in all of our present and future accounts
receivable, general intangibles, and owned real property. In addition, our financial covenant to maintain a minimum tangible net worth will be decreased
from at least $100 million to at least $90 million. We expect to finalize this amendment in March 2011 and it will be effective through August 1, 2011.
OTHER FACTORS IMPACTING LIQUIDITY
Effective November 4, 2004, our board of directors authorized purchases of up to $25 million of our common stock. The repurchase program will remain in
effect until terminated by the board of directors and will allow us to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time on the open market, in block
trades and in privately-negotiated transactions. Repurchases will be implemented by the Chief Financial Officer consistent with the guidelines adopted by
the board of directors from time to time and will depend on market conditions and other factors. Any repurchased shares will be made in accordance with
SEC rules. We have not yet repurchased any shares pursuant to this board authorization.
Our business currently has a high concentration on a few principal clients. The loss of a principal client and/or changes in timing or termination of a
principal client’s product launch or service offering would have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, operating results, and financial
condition. These client relationships are further discussed in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and in Note 5, “Principal Clients,” to our Consolidated Financial
Statements, which are included at Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data,” of this Form 10-K. To limit our credit risk, management
from time to time will perform credit evaluations of our clients. Although we are directly impacted by the economic conditions in which our clients operate,
management does not believe substantial credit risk existed as of December 31, 2010.
There is a risk that the counterparties to our hedging instruments could suffer financial difficulties due to economic conditions or other reasons and we could
realize losses on these arrangements which could impact our liquidity. However, we do not believe we are exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit
risk in our derivative hedging activities, as the counterparties are established, well-capitalized financial institutions.
Because we service relatively few, large clients, the availability of cash is highly dependent on the timing of cash receipts from accounts receivable. As a
result, from time to time, we borrow cash from our line of credit to cover short-term cash needs. These borrowings are typically outstanding for a short period
of time before they are repaid. However, our debt balance can fluctuate significantly during any given quarter as part of our ordinary course of business.
Accordingly, our debt balance at the end of any given period is not necessarily indicative of the debt balance at any other time during that period.
Although management cannot accurately anticipate effects of domestic and foreign inflation on our operations, management does not believe inflation has
had a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. However, there is a risk that inflation could occur in certain countries in
which we operate which could have an adverse affect on our financial results. We engage in hedging activities which may reduce this risk; however, currency
hedges do not, and will not, eliminate our exposure to foreign inflation.
VARIABILITY OF OPERATING RESULTS
Our business has been seasonal only to the extent that our clients’ marketing programs and product launches are geared toward the winter holiday buying
season. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience some quarterly variations in revenue and operating results due to a variety of factors,
many of which are outside our control, including: (i) timing and amount of costs incurred to expand capacity in order to provide for volume growth from
existing and future clients; (ii) changes in the volume of services provided to principal clients; (iii) expiration or termination of client projects or contracts;
(iv) timing of existing and future client product launches or service offerings; (v) seasonal nature of certain clients’ businesses; and (vi) variability in demand
for our services by our clients depending on demand for their products or services and/or depending on our performance.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our accounting estimates
on historical experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual results may vary from these estimates
due to
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factors beyond our control or due to changes in these assumptions or conditions. We have discussed the development and selection of critical accounting
policies and estimates with our Audit Committee. The following is a summary of our critical accounting policies and estimates we make in preparing our
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Revenue Recognition
We invoice our business process outsourcing services clients monthly in arrears and recognize revenue for such services when completed. For substantially
all of our contractual arrangements for business process outsourcing services, we recognize revenue based either on the billable hours or minutes of each
customer service representative, at rates provided in the client contract, or on a rate-per-transaction basis. The contractual rates can fluctuate based on our
performance against certain pre-determined criteria related to quality and performance. Additionally, some clients are contractually entitled to penalties when
we are out of compliance with certain quality and/or performance obligations defined in the client contract. Such penalties are recorded as a reduction to
revenue as incurred, based on a measurement of the appropriate penalty under the terms of the client contract.
As a general rule, our contracts are not multiple element contracts. We provide initial training to customer service representatives upon commencement of
new contracts and recognize revenues for such training as the services are provided based upon the production rate (i.e., billable hours and rates related to the
training services as stipulated in our contractual arrangements). Accordingly, the corresponding training costs, consisting primarily of labor and related
expenses, are recognized as incurred.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities, which are required to be recorded at fair value, we consider the
principal or most advantageous market in which we would transact and the market-based risk measurements or assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and credit risk.
The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3
measurements). The levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

Level 2

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments
in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the
market.

Level 3

Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not observable in the market. These
unobservable assumptions reflect our own estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability. Valuation techniques include use of option pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques.

Refer to Note 8, “Fair Value Measurements”, to our Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Financial Data.”
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We periodically, on at least an annual basis, evaluate potential impairments of our long-lived assets. In our annual evaluation or when we determine that the
carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, based upon the existence of one or more indicators of impairment, we evaluate the projected
undiscounted cash flows related to the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying values of the assets, we measure the impairment based on the excess
of the carrying value of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s fair value. Where appropriate we use a probability-weighted approach to determine
our future cash flows, based upon our estimate of the likelihood of certain scenarios, primarily whether we expect to sell new business within a current
location. These estimates are consistent with our internal projections and external communications and public disclosures. Our projections contain
assumptions pertaining to anticipated levels of utilization and revenue that may or may not be under contract but are based on our experience and/or
projections received from our customers. If our estimate of the probability of different scenarios changed by 10%, the impact to our financial statements
would not be material. As described in Note 2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” during the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded
impairment losses in our U.S. and Canadian
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segments, due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable based upon our estimated future
cash flows. Given that the impairment losses were valued using internal estimates of future cash flows, we have classified the remaining fair value of longlived assets as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
In 2010, we committed to a plan to sell the buildings at our closed facilities in Laramie, Wyoming and Greeley, Colorado. We received estimates of the
selling prices of these buildings, and have reduced the value of the buildings to fair value, less costs to sell, or approximately $5.2 million at December 31,
2010. The measurement of the fair value of the buildings was based upon our third-party real estate broker’s non-binding estimate of fair value using the
observable market information regarding sale prices of comparable assets. As these inputs to the determination of fair value are based upon non-identical
assets and use significant unobservable inputs, we have classified the assets as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Restructuring Charges
A liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity is recognized when the liability is incurred, instead of upon commitment to an exit plan. On
an ongoing basis, management assesses the profitability and utilization of our facilities and in some cases management has chosen to close facilities. A
significant assumption used in determining the amount of the estimated liability for closing a facility is the estimated liability for future lease payments on
vacant facilities. We determine our estimate of sublease based on our ability to successfully negotiate early termination agreements with landlords, a thirdparty broker or management’s assessment of our ability to sublease the facility based upon the market conditions in which the facility is located. If the
assumptions regarding early termination and the timing and amounts of sublease payments prove to be inaccurate, we may be required to record additional
losses, or conversely, a future gain, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). For additional information, see Note 2,
“Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Financial Data.”
Accrued restructuring costs were valued using a discounted cash flow model. Significant assumptions used in determining the amount of the estimated
liability for closing a facility are the estimated liability for future lease payments on vacant facilities, and the discount rate utilized to determine the present
value of the future expected cash flows. As described in Note 2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” during the year ended December 31, 2010
and 2009, we closed several facilities. These costs were valued using a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows consist of the future lease payment
obligations required under the lease agreement. We assumed that we could sublease the facilities in Regina and Grand Junction for a portion of the
remaining lease term based on our knowledge of the respective marketplaces, as well as our historical ability to sublease our facilities in other locations in
which we operate. In the future, if we sublease for periods that differ from our assumption, we may be required to record a gain or loss in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). If our estimated sublease period decreased by 10% of the remaining lease term, the
impact to our financial statements would be to increase the estimated liability by approximately $0.4 million. Conversely, if our estimated sublease period
increased by 10% of the remaining lease term, the impact to our financial statements would be to decrease the estimated liability by approximately $0.4
million. Future cash flows also include estimated property taxes through the remainder of the lease term, which are valued based upon historical tax
payments. The future cash flows were discounted using a rate of 3%. Given that the restructuring charges were valued using our internal estimates using a
discounted cash flow model, we have classified the accrued restructuring costs as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
We record derivative instruments in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value, with changes in the fair value of
qualifying hedges recorded in other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2010, we recorded a gross derivative asset related to our unrealized gains of
approximately $1.1 million and a gross derivative liability related to our unrealized losses of approximately $0.1 million. Changes in a derivative’s fair
value are recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. Special accounting for qualifying hedges allows a derivative’s
gains and losses to offset the related results of the hedged item and requires that we must formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of
transactions that receive hedge accounting treatment.
We are generally able to apply cash flow hedge accounting which associates the results of the hedges with forecasted future expenses. The current mark-tomarket gain or loss is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and will be re-classified to
operations as the forecasted expenses are incurred, typically within one year. During 2010, 2009 and 2008, our cash flow hedges were highly effective and
there were no amounts charged to the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income for hedge ineffectiveness. While we
expect that our derivative instruments that have been designated as hedges will continue to meet the conditions for hedge accounting, if hedges do not
qualify as highly effective or if we do not believe that forecasted transactions will occur, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedges will
be reflected in earnings.
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Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect net effects of temporary differences between carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. We are subject to foreign income taxes on our
foreign operations. We are required to estimate our income taxes in each jurisdiction in which we operate. This process involves estimating our actual current
tax exposure, together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes. The tax effects
of these temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a
tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future years for which we have already recorded the expense in our financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities
generally represent tax items that have been deducted for tax purposes, but have not yet been recorded as expenses in our financial statements. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected
to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period during which such
rates are enacted.
We consider all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become realizable. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of available carryback and carryforward
periods), and projected taxable income in assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets. In making such judgments, significant weight is given to evidence
that can be objectively verified. Based on all available evidence, in particular our three-year historical cumulative losses, recent operating losses and a U.S.
pre-tax loss for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010, we recorded a valuation allowance against our U.S. net deferred tax assets, which increased tax
expense by $9.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2010. The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2010 was $9.5
million. No valuation allowance was recorded as of December 31, 2009. In order to fully realize the U.S. deferred tax assets, we will need to generate
sufficient taxable income in future periods before the expiration of the deferred tax assets governed by the tax code. As of December 31, 2010, we had gross
federal net operating loss carry forwards of $13.5 million, which expire in 2030 and gross state net operating loss carry forwards of $16.8 million, which
expire through 2030 as follows: approximately $0.3 million in 2013, $0.2 million in 2014, $1.3 million in 2015, $0.4 million in 2019, $0.5 million in 2020,
$1.1 million in 2022, $0.2 million in 2024, $0.7 million in 2025, $0.9 million in 2027, $6.5 million in 2028, $0.4 million in 2029 and $4.3 million in 2030.
We record tax benefits when they are more likely than not to be realized. Our policy is to reflect penalties and interest as part of income tax expense as they
become applicable. We file numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state jurisdictions, as well as
in Canada, the Philippines and Costa Rica. Our U.S. federal returns and most state returns for tax years 2007 and forward are subject to examination.
Canadian returns for tax years 2006 and forward are subject to examination. Our returns since our commencement of operations in the Philippines in 2008
and Costa Rica in 2010 are subject to examination. Our 2008 U.S. federal income tax return is currently under audit. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009,
there were no unrecognized income tax benefits.
Stock-Based Compensation
We recognize expense related to all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income based on the share-based payments’ fair values amortized straight-line over the period during which the
employees are required to provide services in exchange for the equity instruments. We estimate forfeitures when calculating compensation expense. We use
the Black-Scholes method for valuing stock-based awards. See Note 11, “Share-Based Compensation,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements, included
in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data.”
Recent Accounting Standards
In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued amended standards that require additional fair value disclosures. These
amended standards require disclosures about inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value, as well as disclosures about significant transfers,
beginning in the first quarter of 2010. Additionally, these amended standards require presentation of disaggregated activity within the reconciliation for fair
value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), beginning in the first quarter of 2011. We will include information related to these
disclosure requirements beginning in the first quarter of 2011.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to certain market risks related to changes in interest rates and other general market risks, equity market
prices, and foreign currency exchange rates. We have established an investment portfolio policy which provides for, among other things, investment
objectives and portfolio allocation guidelines.
This discussion contains forward-looking statements subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results could vary materially as a result of a number of factors,
including but not limited to, changes in interest and inflation rates or market expectations thereon, equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, and
those factors set forth in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K.
INTEREST RATE RISK
Cash and Cash Equivalents
At December 31, 2010, we had $18.7 million in cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are not restricted. We consider cash equivalents to be
short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and so near their maturity at purchase that they present insignificant risk
of changes in value because of changes in interest rates. We do not expect any substantial loss with respect to our cash and cash equivalents as a result of
interest rate changes, and the estimated fair value of our cash and cash equivalents approximates original cost.
Outstanding Debt
We currently have a $10.0 million secured revolving line of credit. The interest rate on our line of credit is variable based upon the LIBOR index, and
therefore, is affected by changes in market interest rates. As of December 31, 2010, there was no amount outstanding on the line of credit. If the LIBOR
increased 100 basis points, there would not be a material impact to our Consolidated Financial Statements. The average outstanding balance in 2010 was not
material.
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISKS
We enter into foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge our anticipated operating commitments that are denominated in foreign currencies. The
contracts cover periods commensurate with expected exposure, generally three to nine months, and are principally unsecured foreign exchange contracts.
The market risk exposure is essentially limited to risk related to currency rate movements. We operate in Canada, the Philippines and Costa Rica. The
functional currencies in Canada and the Philippines are the Canadian dollar and the Philippine peso, which are used to pay labor and other operating costs in
those countries. However, our client contracts generate revenues which are paid to us in U.S. dollars. In Costa Rica, our functional currency is the U.S. dollar
and the majority of our costs are denominated in U.S. dollars.
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The following table summarizes the relative strengthening (weakening) of the U.S. dollar against the local currency, average exchange rates and the amount
of local currency used in operations (in 000’s) during the years presented:

2010

Year Ended December 31,
2009

2008

US dollar vs. Canadian dollar
Relative (weakening) strengthening during the year
Average exchange rate
Amount of local currency used, net of receipts

(5.2)%
1.03
59,648

13.6%
1.14
66,722

(22.1)%
1.07
86,232

US dollar vs. Phillipine peso
Relative (weakening) strengthening during the year
Average exchange rate
Amount of local currency used, net of receipts

(4.9)%
44.9
1,485,758

2.6%
47.4
572,433

(15.2)%
45.5
122,979

US dollar vs. Costa Rican colon
Relative weakening during the year
Average exchange rate
Amount of local currency used, net of receipts

(9.0)%
513
12,389

(0.9)%
572
—

(11.5)%
523
—

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, we entered into Canadian dollar forward contracts for a notional amount of 47.0, 44.1 and 98.4
million Canadian dollars, respectively, to hedge our foreign currency risk with respect to labor costs in Canada. During the year ended December 31, 2010,
we entered into Philippine peso non-deliverable forward contracts for a notional amount of 1.3 billion, to hedge our foreign currency risk with respect to
labor costs in the Philippines. As of December 31, 2010, we have not entered into any arrangements to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in the Costa Rican
colon relative to the U.S. dollar. As of December 31, 2010, we had contracted to purchase 17.4 million Canadian dollars to be delivered periodically through
June 2011 at a purchase price of approximately $16.4 million, and 648 million Philippine pesos to be delivered periodically through June 2011 at a purchase
price of approximately $14.9 million.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
The following Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-K.
StarTek, Inc. and Subsidiaries:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of StarTek, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of StarTek, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income (loss), cash flows and stockholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of StarTek, Inc. and
subsidiaries at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), StarTek, Inc.’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 4, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
March 4, 2011
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2009

2010

Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating loss
Net interest and other income (expense)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Loss (income) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income

$

$

265,376
237,672
27,704
43,281
2,835
(18,412)
273
(18,139)
1,244
(19,383)
—
(19,383)

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments available for sale, net of tax
Change in fair value of derivative instruments, net of tax
Comprehensive (loss) income

$

568
—
221
(18,594)

Net (loss) income per share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Net (loss) income per share including discontinued operations:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

$

$

901
49
1,838
7,437

$

(1,463)
(32)
(1,464)
(12,860)

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

0.00
0.00

$
$

(0.66)
(0.66)

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

0.31
0.31

$
$

(0.67)
(0.67)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

288,980
239,879
49,101
43,196
6,437
(532)
(210)
(742)
(751)
9
4,640
4,649

2008

272,338
238,346
33,992
40,814
9,225
(16,047)
55
(15,992)
(6,301)
(9,691)
(210)
(9,901)

14,903
14,903

$

14,792
14,837

$

14,713
14,713

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)
As of December 31,
2010

2009

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Trade accounts receivable, net
Income tax receivable
Deferred income tax assets
Derivative asset
Prepaid expenses
Assets held for sale
Current portion of note receivable
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property, plant and equipment, net
Long-term deferred income tax assets
Long-term note receivable, net of current portion
Other long-term assets
Total assets

18,740
—
47,210
53
111
1,078
4,559
5,158
660
320
77,889

$

19,591
500
50,521
6,292
511
628
5,979
—
—
1,384
85,406

$

46,930
4,102
1,980
1,854
132,755

$

58,045
4,529
—
1,088
149,068

$

7,344

$

4,884

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities:
Accrued payroll
Accrued compensated absences
Accrued restructuring costs
Other accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred income tax liabilities
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Accrued restructuring charges
Deferred rent
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

10,294
3,768
1,096
1,484
749
2,068
862
27,665

9,253
4,016
1,317
1,897
1,019
1,470
1,117
24,973

998
3,089
356
32,108

2,663
4,144
572
32,352

151
69,222
3,162
28,112
100,647
132,755

149
66,699
2,373
47,495
116,716
149,068

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, 32,000,000 non-convertible shares, $0.01 par value, authorized; 15,117,029 and
14,882,990 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

$

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2009

2010

Operating Activities
Net (loss) income
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Non-cash compensation cost
Deferred income taxes
Other, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Income taxes, net
Accrued and other liabilities
Net cash provided by continuing operating activities
Cash (used in) provided by discontinued operating activities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

Investing Activities
Purchases of investments available for sale
Proceeds from disposition of available for sale investments
Proceeds from note receivable
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in continuing investing activities
Cash provided by discontinued investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Financing Activities
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Principal payments on borrowings
Proceeds from line of credit
Principal payments on line of credit
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing financing activities
Cash provided by discontinued financing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Property, plant and equipment acquired or refinanced under long-term debt
Property, plant and equipment sold under a note receivable
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(19,383)
—
(19,383)

$

4,649
4,640
9

2008

$

(9,901)
(210)
(9,691)

17,155
4,112
2,108
1,116
(162)

15,977
1,756
1,987
7,050
22

17,803
5,936
1,493
(7,492)
538

4,358
469
2,711
5,764
(3,531)
14,717
—
14,717

108
(3,401)
(1,374)
(3,528)
(617)
17,989
(2,335)
15,654

(2,683)
(767)
292
(309)
6,706
11,826
(210)
11,616

—
606
275
(16,942)
(16,061)
—
(16,061)

—
8,019
—
(14,683)
(6,664)
7,075
411

(11,384)
18,742
—
(27,979)
(20,621)
—
(20,621)

175
—
2,011
(2,011)
242
(147)
270
—
270
223
(851)
19,591
18,740

20
(6,855)
22,236
(22,236)
251
(265)
(6,849)
—
(6,849)
795
10,011
9,580
19,591

—
(3,835)
116,886
(116,886)
172
(59)
(3,722)
—
(3,722)
(719)
(13,446)
23,026
9,580

$
$

57
233

$

2,915

$

$
$
$
$

166
750
290
—

$

$
$
$

660
2,312
385

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Dollars in thousands)

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance, January 1, 2008
Restricted shares granted
Restricted shares forfeited
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
Employee
Stock Purchase Plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax
Unrealized loss on investments
available for
sale, net of tax
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments, net of tax
Balance, December 31, 2008
Stock options exercised
Restricted shares granted
Restricted shares forfeited
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
Employee
Stock Purchase Plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Net income
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax
Unrealized gain on investments
available for
sale, net of tax
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments, net of tax
Balance, December 31, 2009
Stock options exercised
Restricted shares granted
Restricted shares forfeited
Shares withheld for taxes on restricted
stock vestings
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
Employee
Stock Purchase Plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments, net of tax
Balance, December 31, 2010

14,735,791
47,800
(7,000)

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

147
1
—

$

62,776 $
(1)
—

2,544

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Retained
Earnings

$

—

52,747
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
(9,901)

$

118,214
—
—
—
172
1,493
(9,901)

37,321
—

—
—

172
1,493

—

—

—

(1,463)

—

(1,463)

—

—

—

(32)

—

(32)

—
14,813,912
5,082
7,200
(3,249)

$

—
148
—
—
—

$

—
64,440
20
—
—

$

(1,464)
(415) $
—
—
—

—
42,846
—
—
—

$

(1,464)
107,019
20
—
—

60,045
—
—

1
—
—

252
1,987
—

—
—
—

—
—
4,649

—
253
1,987
4,649

—

—

—

901

—

901

—

—

—

49

—

49

—
14,882,990
49,369
150,545
(27,019)

$

(841)

—
149
1
1
—

$

—
66,699 $
174
(1)
—

1,838
2,373
—
—
—

—

—

—

61,985
—
—

—
—
—

242
2,108
—

—
—
—

—

—

—

568

—
15,117,029

$

—
151

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
42

$

—
69,222

$

221
3,162

$

—
47,495
—
—
—

$

—

—
—
242
2,108
(19,383)

—
—
(19,383)
—
$

—
28,112

1,838
116,716
175
—
—

$

568
—
221
100,647

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2010
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
StarTek, Inc. is a provider of business process optimization services for outsourced customer interactions. Since 1987, we have provided customer experience
management solutions that solve strategic business challenges so that fast-moving businesses can effectively manage customer relationships across all
contact points including web, voice, email, fax, and video. This blended solution helps companies create and maintain customer satisfaction and frees them
to focus on preserving capital, while we deliver the customer experience. Headquartered in Denver, Colorado, we operate facilities in the U.S., Canada, the
Philippines and Costa Rica. We operate within three business segments: the U.S., Canada and Offshore. We have evaluated all subsequent events through
the date of issuance of our financial statements.
Consolidation
Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of all wholly-owned subsidiaries after elimination of significant intercompany accounts and
transactions.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2009 and 2008 financial statements to conform to 2010 presentation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in our Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements in
the period they are determined to be necessary.
Concentration of Credit Risk
We are exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business, primarily related to accounts receivable and derivative instruments. Historically, the losses
related to credit risk have been immaterial. We regularly monitor credit risk to mitigate the possibility of current and future exposures resulting in a loss. We
evaluate the creditworthiness of clients prior to entering into an agreement to provide services and on an on-going basis as part of the processes of revenue
recognition and accounts receivable. We do not believe we are exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit risk in our derivative hedging activities, as
the counter parties are established, well-capitalized financial institutions.
Foreign Currency Translation
The assets and liabilities of our foreign operations that are recorded in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the
balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the weighted-average exchange rate during the reporting period. Resulting translation
adjustments, net of applicable deferred income taxes, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). Such gains and losses were not material for any period presented.
Revenue Recognition
Business Process Outsourcing Services —We invoice our clients monthly in arrears and recognize revenues for such services when completed. Substantially
all of our contractual arrangements are based either on a production rate, meaning that we recognize revenue based on the billable hours or minutes of each
call center agent, or on a rate per transaction basis. These rates could be based on the number of paid hours the agent works, the number of minutes the agent
is available to answer calls, or the number of minutes the agent is actually handling calls for the client, depending on the client contract. Production rates
vary by
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client contract and can fluctuate based on our performance against certain pre-determined criteria related to quality and performance. Additionally, some
clients are contractually entitled to penalties when we are out of compliance with certain quality and/or performance obligations defined in the client
contract. Such penalties are recorded as a reduction to revenue as incurred based on a measurement of the appropriate penalty under the terms of the client
contract. Likewise, some client contracts stipulate that we are entitled to bonuses should we meet or exceed these predetermined quality and/or performance
obligations. These bonuses are recognized as incremental revenue in the period in which they are earned.
As a general rule, our contracts do not include multiple elements. We provide initial training to customer service representatives upon commencement of
new contracts and recognize revenues for such training as the services are provided based upon the production rate (i.e., billable hours and rates related to the
training services as stipulated in our contractual arrangements). Accordingly, the corresponding training costs, consisting primarily of labor and related
expenses, are recognized as incurred.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
An allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for known and estimated potential losses arising from sales to customers based on a periodic review of these
accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts was not material as of December 31, 2010 or 2009.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities, which are required to be recorded at fair value, we consider the
principal or most advantageous market in which we would transact and the market-based risk measurements or assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and credit risk.
Accounting guidance for the measurement of fair value establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements). The levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

Level 2

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are
observable in the market.

Level 3

Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not observable in the market. These
unobservable assumptions reflect our own estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability. Valuation techniques include use of option pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques.

Refer to Note 8, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information on how we determine fair value for our assets and liabilities.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider cash equivalents to be short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and so near their maturity at purchase
that they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates.
Investments
Investments available for sale have historically consisted of debt securities reported at fair value. Under our investment policy, we may invest in certain U.S.
Government and government-sponsored securities, repurchase agreements, investment grade corporate obligations, corporate debt securities, municipal
securities, money market and mutual funds, subject to the terms of the policy. We intend to revise our investment policy such that we may invest in more
conservative investments, including U.S. treasury securities, federal agency securities, repurchase agreements and money market funds.
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Investments are periodically evaluated for other-than-temporary impairment whenever the fair value falls below our cost basis and we either intend to sell the
security or its more likely than not we will be required to sell the security before it recovers. We then consider additional factors such as market conditions,
the industry sectors in which the issuer of the investment operates, and the viability and prospects of each entity. Other-than-temporary declines in fair value
are reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) within Net Interest and Other Income. Original cost of
investments available for sale is based on the specific identification method. Other-than-temporary impairments and interest income from investments
available for sale are included in Net Interest and Other Income on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss). Investments available for sale are carried at fair market values. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, we were not invested in any trading
securities or held-to-maturity securities.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
Our derivative instruments consist of foreign currency forward contracts and are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as either an asset or liability
measured at its fair value, with changes in the fair value of qualifying hedges recorded in other comprehensive income. Changes in a derivative’s fair value
are recognized currently in the Statement of Operations unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. Special accounting for qualifying hedges allows a
derivative’s gains and losses to offset the related results of the hedged item and requires that we must formally document, designate and assess the
effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting treatment.
We generally are able to apply cash flow hedge accounting which associates the results of the hedges with forecasted future expenses. The current mark-tomarket gain or loss is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and will be re-classified to
operations as the forecasted expenses are incurred, typically within one year. During 2010, 2009 and 2008, our cash flow hedges were highly effective and
there were no amounts charged to the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for hedge ineffectiveness. While we
expect that our derivative instruments that have been designated as hedges will continue to meet the conditions for hedge accounting, if hedges do not
qualify as highly effective or if we do not believe that forecasted transactions will occur, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedges will
be reflected in earnings.
Legal Proceedings
We reserve for legal contingencies when a liability for those contingencies has become probable and the cost is reasonably estimable. Any significant
litigation or significant change in our estimates on our outstanding litigation could cause us to increase our provision for related costs, which, in turn, could
materially affect our financial results. Any provision made for these anticipated costs are expensed to operating expenses in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). We have been involved from time to time in litigation arising in the normal course of business, none of
which is expected by management to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at depreciated cost. Additions and improvement activities are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method based on their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Estimated Useful Life

Buildings and building improvements
Telephone and computer equipment
Software
Furniture, fixtures, and miscellaneous equipment

15-30 years
3-5 years
3 years
5-7 years

We depreciate leasehold improvements associated with operating leases over the shorter of the expected useful life or remaining life of the lease.
Depreciation for assets obtained under a capital lease is included in depreciation expense.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We periodically, on at least an annual basis, evaluate potential impairments of our long-lived assets. In our annual evaluation or when we determine that the
carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, based upon the existence of one or more
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indicators of impairment, we evaluate the projected undiscounted cash flows related to the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying values of the
assets, we measure the impairment based on the excess of the carrying value of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s fair value. Our projections
contain assumptions pertaining to anticipated levels of utilization and revenue that may or may not be under contract but are based on our experience and/or
projections received from our customers.
Assets Held for Sale
We classify an asset as held for sale when the facts and circumstances meet the criteria for such classification, including the following (a) we have committed
to a plan to sell the asset, (b) the asset is available for immediate sell, (c) we have initiated actions to complete the sale, (d) the sale is expected to be
completed within one year, (e) the asset is being actively marketed at a price that is reasonable relative to its fair value and (f) the plan to sell is unlikely to be
subject to significant changes or termination. Assets held for sale are reported at the lower of cost or fair value less costs to sell.
Restructuring Charges
A liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity is recognized when the liability is incurred, instead of upon commitment to an exit plan. On
an ongoing basis, management assesses the profitability and utilization of our facilities and in some cases management has chosen to close facilities. A
significant assumption used in determining the amount of the estimated liability for closing a facility is the estimated liability for future lease payments on
vacant facilities. We determine our estimate of sublease based on our ability to successfully negotiate early termination agreements with landlords, a thirdparty broker or management’s assessment of our ability to sublease the facility based upon the market conditions in which the facility is located. If the
assumptions regarding early termination and the timing and amounts of sublease payments prove to be inaccurate, we may be required to record additional
losses, or conversely, a future gain, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
Operating Leases
Rent holidays, landlord/tenant incentives and escalations are included in some instances in the base price of our rent payments over the term of our operating
leases. We recognize rent holidays and rent escalations on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The landlord/tenant incentives are recorded as deferred
rent and amortized on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect net effects of temporary differences between carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. We are subject to foreign income taxes on our
foreign operations. We are required to estimate our income taxes in each jurisdiction in which we operate. This process involves estimating our actual current
tax exposure, together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes. The tax effects
of these temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a
tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future years for which we have already recorded the expense in our financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities
generally represent tax items that have been deducted for tax purposes, but have not yet been recorded as expenses in our financial statements. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected
to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period during which such
rates are enacted. We record a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that we will not realize the net deferred tax assets in a certain jurisdiction.
We record tax benefits when they are more likely than not to be realized. Our policy is to reflect penalties and interest as part of income tax expense as they
become applicable. We file numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state jurisdictions, as well as
in Canada, the Philippines and Costa Rica. Our U.S. federal returns and most state returns for tax years 2007 and forward are subject to examination.
Canadian returns for tax years 2006 and forward are subject to examination. Our returns since our commencement of operations in the Philippines in 2008
and Costa Rica in 2010 are subject to examination. Our 2008 U.S. federal income tax return is currently under audit. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009,
there were no unrecognized income tax benefits.
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Stock-Based Compensation
We recognize expense related to all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) based on the share-based payments’ fair values amortized straight-line over the period during which the
employees are required to provide services in exchange for the equity instruments. We include an estimate of forfeitures when calculating compensation
expense. We use the Black-Scholes method for valuing stock-based awards. See Note 11, “Share-Based Compensation,” for further information regarding the
assumptions used to calculate share-based payment expense.
Employee Benefit Plan
We have a safe harbor 401(k) plan that allows participation by employees who have completed six months of service and are 21 years or older. Participants
may defer up to 60% of their gross pay, up to a maximum limit determined by U.S. federal law. Participants receive a matching contribution after one year of
service of 100% of the participant’s contribution for the first 3% and 50% of the participant’s contribution for the next 2%. Company matching
contributions to the 401(k) plan totaled $655, $650 and $624 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Recent Accounting Standards
In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued amended standards that require additional fair value disclosures. These
amended standards require disclosures about inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value, as well as disclosures about significant transfers,
beginning in the first quarter of 2010. Additionally, these amended standards require presentation of disaggregated activity within the reconciliation for fair
value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), beginning in the first quarter of 2011. We will include information related to these
disclosure requirements beginning in the first quarter of 2011.
2. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND RESTRUCTURING CHARGES
Impairment Losses
During the year ended December 31, 2010, we incurred $4,112 of impairment losses ($3,161 in our U.S. segment and $951 in our Canadian segment), due to
the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable. These assets are located in facilities for which we
are uncertain about our ability to generate future cash flows to support the carrying value of these assets. The long-lived assets include computer and
telephone equipment, furniture and fixtures, leasehold improvements and software. Refer to Note 8, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information
on the fair value measurements for all assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in the Consolidated Financial Statements. During the year ended
December 31, 2009 we incurred $1,756 of impairment losses in our Canadian segment, due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the
carrying value of those assets is not recoverable.
Assets Held for Sale
In 2010, we committed to a plan to sell the buildings at our closed facilities in Laramie, Wyoming and Greeley, Colorado. We received estimates of the
selling prices of these buildings, and have reduced the value of the buildings and land to fair value less the costs to sell, or approximately $5,158 as of
December 31, 2010. We reclassified these long-lived assets as current assets held for sale on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. In order for an asset to be held
for sale, management must determine that the asset is to be held for sale in its current condition, an active plan to complete the sale of the asset has been
initiated and the sale of the asset is probable within one year. We evaluated the facilities during 2010 and determined these assets meet all the criteria for an
asset held for sale.
Restructuring Charges
We have closed the following facilities and have recorded restructuring charges related to lease costs and other expenses related to the facility closures. We
record expenses in addition to the initially recognized expense when a change in estimate occurs or to accrete a discounted liability to the amount expected
to be paid. We recognized the liability when it was incurred, instead of upon commitment to a plan. During the year ended December 31, 2010, we entered
into sublease agreements for our Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada and Victoria, Texas facilities through the remainder of their respective lease terms. We had
assumed a sublease
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in our original estimated restructuring liabilities for Thunder Bay and Victoria and do not expect to incur material changes to the restructuring liabilities in
future periods as a result of the subleases. The lease for our Sarnia, Ontario, Canada location expired in January 2011, and we do not expect to incur material
changes to the restructuring liabilities in future periods for this location.
We expect to pay $1,667 in our U.S. segment and $4,548 in our Canadian segment over the term of the restructuring plan relating to the above closures. The
cumulative amount paid as of December 31, 2010 related to the above closures was $638 in our U.S. segment and $2,200 in our Canadian segment. We
expect completion of the Regina, Laramie and Grand Junction restructuring plans no later than 2013, 2011 and 2012, respectively; however, it may be earlier
or later depending on our ability to sublease the facilities, buy-out the lease or sell the facilities. We have made certain assumptions related to our ability to
sublease these facilities. Refer to Note 8, “Fair Value Measurements,” of this Form 10-K, for additional information on the fair value measurements for all
assets and liabilities, including restructuring charges, that are measured at fair value in the Consolidated Financial Statements. During 2010, we recorded a
reduction of restructuring charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of $1,802, or $0.12 per share, to adjust the estimated restructuring liability
for our Regina, Saskatchewan facility, due to a sublease proposal. We had previously assumed that we would not be able to sublease the facility.
A summary of the activity under the restructuring plans as of December 31, 2010, and changes during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 are
presented below:

Victoria

Balance as of December 31, 2008
Expense
Payments, net of receipts for sublease
Reclassification of long-term liability
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance as of December 31, 2009
Expense
Payments, net of receipts for sublease
Reclassification of long-term liability
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance as of December 31, 2010

$

$

$

— $
—
—
—
—
— $
288
(563)
766
—
491 $

Laramie

Grand
Junction

— $
—
—
—
—
— $
87
(58)
3
—
32 $

— $
—
—
—
—
— $
455
(17)
68
—
506 $

Facility-Related Costs
U.S.
Thunder
Total
Regina
Bay

— $
—
—
—
—
— $
830
(638)
837
—
1,029 $

— $
4,436
(1,294)
118
720
3,980 $
(1,802)
(1,380)
170
65
1,033 $

— $
—
—
—
—
— $
(372)
(381)
701
52
— $

Sarnia

— $
—
—
—
—
— $
67
(53)
22
(4)
32 $

Canada
Total

— $
4,436
(1,294)
118
720
3,980 $
(2,107)
(1,814)
893
113
1,065 $

Total

—
4,436
(1,294)
118
720
3,980
(1,277)
(2,452)
1,730
113
2,094

Note Receivable
In connection with the sublease of our Victoria, Texas facility, the sublessee is making payments to us for certain furniture, fixtures, equipment and leasehold
improvements in the facility. The payments will be made over the remainder of the lease term, or December 1, 2014, after which time the sublessee will own
the assets. As of December 31, 2010, we have recorded a note receivable of $2.6 million for the payments due under this agreement, net of unearned interest
income of approximately $222. The note receivable bears interest at a rate of 4.4% per annum. Future minimum lease payments under this note receivable
are: $660 in 2011, $660 in 2012, $660 in 2013 and $660 in 2014.
3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On February 25, 2009, we entered into an agreement to sell the assets of Domain.com, our wholly owned subsidiary, to A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr., Inc.
(“Mr. Stephenson”) in exchange for cash of $7,075. The assets of Domain.com consist of domain names, trademarks and corporation names. We conducted
an auction for the assets and received bids from multiple parties, including Mr. Stephenson. Mr. Stephenson presented the highest bid, which represented the
selling price, of $7,075 and the sale was completed effective February 25, 2009. Mr. Stephenson is one of our co-founders, has managed the Domain.com
subsidiary since 2006 and owns approximately 20% of our common shares outstanding. Because the transaction involved a related party, the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors considered and approved the transaction. The results of operations and cash flows of Domain.com have been reported in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) as discontinued operations.
During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recorded a loss from discontinued operations of $740 due to the write-off of an asset related to the sale of our
supply chain management services platform in December 2005, less a tax benefit of $279.
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The following table summarizes the results of discontinued operations:
Year Ended December 31,
2009

2010

Operating income from discontinued operations before income taxes
Gain (loss) on the sale of discontinued operations
Income tax (expense) benefit
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

$

27
6,937
(2,324)
4,640

2008

$

402
(740)
128
(210 )

$

4. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed on the basis of our weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per
share is computed on the basis of our weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of dilutive outstanding stock options and nonvested restricted stock using the treasury stock method. Anti-dilutive securities totaling 2,352 and 1,690 for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2008,
respectively, were not included in our calculation due to our net loss position. Anti-dilutive securities totaling 1,808 for the year ended December 31, 2009
were not included in our calculation because the stock options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares during such
period. Our basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2009

2010

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)

$

(19,383)
—
(19,383)

$

Weighted average shares of common stock
Dilutive effect of stock options
Common stock and common stock equivalents

$
$

14,903
—
14,903

Basic net income (loss) per share from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

$
$

Diluted net income (loss) per share from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

$
$

9
4,640
4,649

2008

$

(9,691)
(210)
(9,901)

$

14,792
45
14,837

(1.30)
—
(1.30)

$

(1.30)
—
(1.30 )

$

$

$

14,713
—
14,713

0.00
0.31
0.31

$

0.00
0.31
0.31

$

(0.66)
(0.01)
(0.67)

$

(0.66)
(0.01)
(0.67 )

$

5. PRINCIPAL CLIENTS
The following table represents revenue concentration of our principal clients.
2010

AT&T Services, Inc. and AT&T Mobility, LLC, subsidiaries of AT&T, Inc.
T-Mobile USA, Inc., a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom

Year Ended December 31,
2009

66.2%
18.1%
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63.6%
21.5%

2008

55.0%
26.8%

Revenue from the above mentioned clients is included in revenue from each of our segments of our business. The loss of a principal client, a material
reduction in the amount of business we receive from a principal client, renegotiation of price by a principal client, or the loss, delay or termination of a
principal client’s product launch or service offering would adversely affect our business, revenue and operating results. We may not be able to retain our
principal clients or, if we were to lose any of our principal clients, we may not be able to timely replace the revenue generated by the lost clients. Loss of a
principal client could result from many factors, including consolidation or economic downturns in our clients’ industries, as discussed further below.
In July 2010, we executed agreements with AT&T to ramp-down certain wireline services that we provide them. Approximately 260 full-time equivalent
agent positions in two of our U.S. sites will be eliminated through the first half of 2011 as the business declines. We closed two sites, one in Greeley,
Colorado and one in Grand Junction, Colorado. Agents that serviced other customers or lines of business were relocated to our other facilities in Greeley and
Grand Junction.
Our work for AT&T is covered by several contracts for a variety of different lines of AT&T business. Some of these contracts expire in 2011 and others in
2012. Although we have negotiated extended terms for several of these contracts, others may not be extended past their initial terms. The initial term of our
master services agreement covering all AT&T work expired in January 2010 and has since been extended until July 1, 2011. After the initial term or any
extension term, the agreement automatically renews month-to-month thereafter. In October 2010, we entered into an agreement with AT&T for the renewal of
certain services we provide to them with regard to their wireless consumer customers. During 2010, this business represented approximately 52% of our
revenue with AT&T. The agreement is effective through September 1, 2012.
Our call center services agreement with T-Mobile became effective as of October 1, 2007 and has an initial term of two years. Although the initial term of
the contract ended on September 30, 2009, we entered into an amendment that extended the term through September 30, 2011. After the initial term or any
extension term, the contract automatically renews thereafter for successive one year periods, unless either party provides written notice of termination at least
60 days prior to the expiration of the then current term. In August 2010, T-Mobile indicated that they would hold a formal process for selecting vendors for
approximately half of the work that we currently service along with an additional, significant opportunity with work that we do not currently perform for TMobile. We were selected to submit a full formal response and we did submit the response in December of 2010. In February of 2011, we were notified that
we were again selected to provide final pricing and comments to the proposed contracts. We expect a final decision to be made in the first quarter of 2011.
We expect to be selected as a continuing vendor for T-Mobile but we can provide no assurance that this will be the case nor that if we are selected that we
will be selected to perform work at the level that we currently provide, or that the terms of any new agreement will be comparable to those currently provided
for under our existing agreement. If we are not selected as a vendor, if we are selected as a vendor but at a significantly reduced level, or if the terms of any
new agreement are less favorable than the existing agreement, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. Until the process is complete, we continue to provide services to T-Mobile under the existing agreement.
6. INVESTMENTS
As of December 31, 2010, we did not have any investments available for sale. As of December 31, 2009, investments available for sale consisted of:
Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Basis

As of December 31, 2009:
Corporate debt securities

$

499

$

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

1

$

Fair Value

—

$

500

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recognized a loss totaling $500 (representing the entire purchase basis amount) on a Lehman Brothers
corporate debt security that was determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired due to their bankruptcy announcement. The Lehman Brothers corporate
debt security was in an unrealized loss position for eleven months prior to the recognition of the other-than-temporary impairment. We did not record any
other-than-temporary impairments for the years ended December 31, 2010 or 2009. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, there were no investments in a gross
unrealized loss position.
Proceeds from the sale of investment securities available for sale were $606, $8,019 and $18,742 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively; gross realized gains
included in other income in 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $108, $5 and $1, respectively; and gross realized losses included in other income in 2010, 2009 and
2008 were $0, $2 and $501, respectively.
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7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
We use derivatives to partially offset our business exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. We enter into foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge
our anticipated operating commitments that are denominated in foreign currencies. The contracts cover periods commensurate with expected exposure,
generally three to nine months, and are principally unsecured foreign exchange contracts. The market risk exposure is essentially limited to risk related to
currency rate movements. We operate in Canada, the Philippines and Costa Rica. The functional currencies in Canada and the Philippines are the Canadian
dollar and the Philippine peso, which are used to pay labor and other operating costs in those countries. However, our client contracts generate revenues
which are paid to us in U.S. dollars. In Costa Rica, our functional currency is the U.S. dollar and the majority of our costs are denominated in U.S. dollars.
During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, we entered into Canadian dollar forward contracts for a notional amount of 47,000, 44,080 and
98,400 Canadian dollars, respectively, to hedge our foreign currency risk with respect to labor costs in Canada. During the years ended December 31, 2010,
we entered into Philippine peso non-deliverable forward contracts for a notional amount of 1,258,000 Philippine pesos to hedge our foreign currency risk
with respect to labor costs in the Philippines. As of December 31, 2010, we have not entered into any arrangements to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in
the Costa Rican colon relative to the U.S. dollar.
The following table shows the notional principal of our derivative instruments as of December 31, 2010:
Notional
Principal

Currency

Instruments qualifying as accounting hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts
Foreign exchange contracts

Canadian dollar
Philippine peso

17,400
648,000

The above Canadian dollar foreign exchange contracts are to be delivered periodically through June 2011 at a purchase price of approximately $16,415, and
the above Philippine peso foreign exchange contracts are to be delivered periodically through June 2011 at a purchase price of approximately $14,943, and
as such we expect unrealized gains and losses reported in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) will be reclassified to earnings during the
next twelve months. The estimates of fair value are based on applicable and commonly used pricing models and prevailing financial market information as
of December 31, 2010. Refer to Note 8, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information on the fair value measurements for all assets and liabilities,
including derivative assets and derivative liabilities that are measured at fair value in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The following table shows our derivative instruments measured at gross fair value as reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet in other current
assets/liabilities and/or derivative asset/liability as of December 31, 2010 and 2009:
As of December 31,
2010

2009

Derivative assets:
Foreign exchange contracts

$

1,078

$

628

Derivative liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts

$

91

$

—

The following table shows the effect of our derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:
Gain (Loss) Recognized in AOCI, net of tax
Years Ended December 31,
2010
2009
2008

Cash flow hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts

$

(977)

$

1,184
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$

Gain Reclassified from AOCI into Income
Years Ended December 31,
2010
2009
2008

620

$

1,917

$

1,047

$

3,445

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Investments
As of December 31, 2010, we did not hold any investments. As of December 31, 2009, our investments consisted entirely of corporate debt securities. The
fair value of our corporate debt securities was based on quoted market information. The inputs to the valuation are generally classified as Level 1 given the
active market for these securities; however, if an active market does not exist, the inputs are recorded at a lower level in the fair value hierarchy.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The values of our derivative instruments are derived from pricing models using inputs based upon market information, including contractual terms, market
prices and yield curves. The inputs to the valuation pricing models are observable in the market, and as such are generally classified as Level 2 in the fair
value hierarchy.
Restructuring Charges
Accrued restructuring costs were valued using a discounted cash flow model. Significant assumptions used in determining the amount of the estimated
liability for closing a facility are the estimated liability for future lease payments on vacant facilities and the discount rate utilized to determine the present
value of the future expected cash flows. If the assumptions regarding early termination and the timing and amounts of sublease payments prove to be
inaccurate, we may be required to record additional losses, or conversely, a future gain, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss).
As described in Note 2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” during the year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, we closed several facilities.
These costs were valued using a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows consist of the future lease payment obligations required under the lease
agreement. During 2010, we recorded a reduction of restructuring charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of $1,802, or $0.12 per share, to
adjust the estimated restructuring liability for our Regina, Saskatchewan facility, due to a sublease proposal. We had previously assumed that we would not
be able to sublease the facility.
We have assumed that we can sublease the facilities in Regina and Grand Junction for a portion of the remaining lease term based on our knowledge of the
respective marketplaces, as well as our historical ability to sublease our facilities in other locations in which we operate. In the future, if we sublease for
periods that differ from our assumption, we may be required to record a gain or loss in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss). Future cash flows also include estimated property taxes through the remainder of the lease term, which are valued based upon historical tax
payments. The future cash flows were discounted using a rate of 3%. Given that the restructuring charges were valued using our internal estimates using a
discounted cash flow model, we have classified the accrued restructuring costs as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Long-Lived Assets
As described in Note 2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” during the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded impairment losses in our
U.S. and Canadian segments, due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable based upon our
estimated future cash flows. We periodically, on at least an annual basis, evaluate potential impairments of our long-lived assets. In our annual evaluation or
when we determine that the carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, based upon the existence of one or more indicators of impairment, we
evaluate the projected undiscounted cash flows related to the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying values of the assets, we measure the
impairment based on the excess of the carrying value of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s fair value. Where appropriate we use a probabilityweighted approach to determine our future cash flows, based upon our estimate of the likelihood of certain scenarios, primarily whether we expect to sell new
business within a current location. These estimates are consistent with our internal projections and external communications and public disclosures. The fair
value of these long-lived assets after the impairment charges were $10,565 ($9,403 U.S. and $1,162 Canada). Given that the impairment losses were valued
using internal estimates of future cash flows, we have classified the remaining fair value of long-lived assets as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
In 2010, we committed to a plan to sell the buildings and land at our closed facilities in Laramie, Wyoming and Greeley, Colorado. We received estimates of
the selling prices of this real estate, and have reduced the value of the buildings and land to
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fair value, less costs to sell, or approximately $5,158 at December 31, 2010. Included in impairment losses during the year ended December 31, 2010 is
$364 related to a change in estimated fair value of the building in Laramie. The measurement of the fair value of the buildings was based upon our thirdparty real estate broker’s non-binding estimate of fair value using the observable market information regarding sale prices of comparable assets. As these
inputs to the determination of fair value are based upon non-identical assets and use significant unobservable inputs, we have classified the assets as Level 3
in the fair value hierarchy.
Fair Value Hierarchy
The following tables set forth our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and a non-recurring basis by level within the fair value
hierarchy. Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Level 1

Assets:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of assets measured on a recurring basis
Liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a recurring
basis

Liabilities:
Accrued restructuring costs
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a non-recurring
basis

Total

—

$
$

1,078
1,078 $

$

—

$

91 $

— $

91

$

—

$

91 $

— $

91

$

Assets Measured at Fair Value
on a Recurring Basis as of December 31, 2009
Level 2

500
—
500

$

Le vel 1

Assets:
Assets held for sale
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total fair value of assets measured on a non-recurring basis

Level 3

$

Level 1

Assets:
Corporate debt securities
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of assets measured on a recurring basis

Assets Measured at Fair Value
on a Recurring Basis as of December 31, 2010
Level 2

$

$

—

53

—
628
628

$

Level 3

$
$

Total

— $ 500
—
628
— $ 1,128

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a
Non-Recurring Basis During the Year ended December 31, 2010
Level 2
Level 3

—
—
—

$

$

$ 1,078
— $ 1,078

$
$

$

—
—
—

—

$

Total

$

$

5,158
10,565
15,723

$

5,158
10,565
15,723

$

2,760

$

2,760

$

2,760

$

2,760

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a
Non-Recurring Basis During the Year ended December 31, 2009
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total

Assets:
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total fair value of assets measured on a non-recurring basis

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

228
228

$
$

228
228

Liabilities:
Accrued restructuring costs
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a non-recurring basis

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

4,436
4,436

$
$

4,436
4,436

9. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Our property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consisted of the following, by asset class:
As of December 31,
2010

Land
Buildings and improvements
Telephone and computer equipment
Software
Furniture, fixtures, and miscellaneous equipment
Construction in progress
Less accumulated depreciation
Total property, plant and equipment, net

$

643
43,197
58,679
40,792
24,096
1,946
169,353
(122,423)
46,930

$

2009

$

$

1,715
49,217
53,052
37,353
22,835
4,133
168,305
(110,260)
58,045

10. DEBT
On July 28, 2010, we entered into a business loan agreement and a promissory note (together the “Agreement”) with UMB Bank Colorado, N.A. (“UMB
Bank”), effective August 1, 2010 through August 1, 2011, to renew our $15 million secured revolving line of credit under a previous business loan agreement
with UMB Bank that expired by its terms on August 1, 2010. Under this agreement, borrowings bore interest, at our option at the time of the borrowing, of
the thirty, sixty or ninety day LIBOR index, plus 1.75%. The interest rate shall never be less than 3.25% per annum. Under this agreement, we granted UMB
Bank a security interest in all of our present and future accounts receivable, general intangibles, and owned real property. In addition, under this agreement,
we were subject to certain financial covenants, which include maintaining 1) a ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of less than 1.0 to 1.0, 2) a
tangible net worth of at least $100 million, 3) unencumbered liquid assets, defined as cash, certificates of deposit and marketable securities, of at least $10
million measured on the last day of each fiscal quarter and 4) a cash flow coverage ratio, as defined in the Agreement, of greater than 1.50 to 1.0 measured on
the last day of each fiscal quarter for the previous twelve months. During the fourth quarter of 2010, we were out of compliance with our cash flow coverage
ratio covenant. We obtained a waiver of this covenant from UMB Bank. As of December 31, 2010, we were in compliance with all other of our debt
covenants.
On March 1, 2011, we reached an agreement with UMB Bank to amend the Agreement, whereby, the secured line of credit will be reduced to $10 million. In
addition, borrowings will bear interest, at the thirty day LIBOR index plus 2.50%. The interest rate shall never be less than 4.00% per annum. Under the
amendment, UMB Bank will retain a security interest in all of our present and future accounts receivable, general intangibles, and owned real property. In
addition, our financial covenant to maintain a minimum tangible net worth will be decreased from at least $100 million to at least $90 million. We expect to
finalize this amendment in March 2011 and it will be effective through August 1, 2011.
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11. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
On May 5, 2008, our stockholders approved the StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan replaced the StarTek, Inc. Stock Option Plan
and StarTek, Inc. Directors’ Stock Option Plan (together, the “Prior Plans”). A total of 900,000 shares were authorized for grant under the Plan. In addition, a
total of 274,298 shares remaining available for future grants under the Prior Plans were carried over and were made available for grant under the Plan. As of
December 31, 2010, there were 320,359 shares available for future grant under the Plan. The types of awards that may be granted under the Plan include
restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, stock option awards, stock appreciation rights and performance units. The Compensation Committee
(the “Committee”) also has the discretion to grant other types of awards, as long as they are consistent with the terms and purposes of the Plan. The terms of
the awards granted under the Plan will expire no later than ten years from the grant date. The Committee may determine the vesting conditions of awards;
however, subject to certain exceptions, an award that is not subject to the satisfaction of performance measures may not fully vest or become fully exercisable
earlier than three years from the grant date, and the performance period for an award subject to performance measures may not be shorter than one year.
Stock options granted to employees under the Plan vest as to 25% of the shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 2.0833% of the shares each
month thereafter for 36 months. Restricted stock awards granted under the Plan vest as to one third of the shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant
and one third of the shares on each of the second and third anniversary thereafter. Stock options or restricted stock awards granted to our board of directors
under the Plan vest as to 25% of the shares after three months from the date of grant, 25% of the shares after six months from the date of grant, 25% of the
shares after nine months from the date of grant and 25% each three months thereafter until fully vested.
On May 5, 2008, our stockholders approved the StarTek, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). Under the ESPP, participants may purchase our
common stock as of the last day of a purchase period at a price, which shall be no less than the lesser of (a) 85% of the closing price of a share of common
stock on the first day of the purchase period; or (b) 85% of the closing price of a share of common stock on the last day of the purchase period. The purchase
period is defined as each quarterly period commencing January 1 and ending March 31, commencing April 1 and ending June 30, commencing July 1 and
ending September 30, or commencing October 1 and ending December 31, unless otherwise determined by the Committee. Subject to certain maximum
stock ownership restrictions, employees are eligible to participate in the ESPP if employed by the Company for at least six months prior to the start of a
Purchase Period and whose customary employment is at least 20 hours per week. Participating employees may elect to have up to 10% of their base pay in
effect at the commencement of each offering period withheld pursuant to the ESPP. A total of 300,000 shares were authorized under the ESPP and as of
December 31, 2010, there were 140,649 shares available for grant under the ESPP.
The compensation cost that has been charged against income for the Plan, the Prior Plans, the ESPP, and for restricted stock awards granted outside of those
plans, as described below (together, the “Plans”), for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $2,108, $1,987 and $1,493, respectively, and is
included in selling, general and administrative expense. As of December 31, 2010, there was $2,440 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
nonvested stock options granted under the Plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.48 years. As of December 31,
2010, there was $443 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock awards granted under the Plans. That cost is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.85 years.
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Stock Options
A summary of stock option activity under the Plans as of December 31, 2010, and changes during the year ended December 31, 2010 are presented below:
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Shares

Outstanding as of January 1, 2010
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding as of December 31, 2010
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2010
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2010

2,140,728
678,250
(49,369)
(519,836)
(23,535)
2,226,238
1,232,394
2,047,739

$

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Term (in yrs)

8.93
5.66
3.63
7.19
45.85
8.07
9.64
7.75

$
$
$

7.48
6.50
7.55

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$
$
$

516
193
472

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $3.18, $2.42 and $3.20,
respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $1,645, $1,361 and $2,408, respectively.
The assumptions used to determine the value of our stock-based awards under the Black-Scholes method are summarized below:
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected life in years

2010

2009

2008

1.1% - 2.9%
0%
73.6% - 75.1%
4

0.6% - 2.7%
0%
61.4% - 117.4%
3.9

1.3% - 3.6%
0%
43.8% - 57.6%
4.1

The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on either the four year or seven year U.S. Treasury strip yield in effect at
the time of grant. Expected life and volatilities are based on historical experience, which we believe will be indicative of future experience.
Restricted Stock Awards
A summary of restricted stock award activity under the Plans as of December 31, 2010, and changes during the year then ended are presented below:
Number of
Restricted Shares

Nonvested balance as of January 1, 2010
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested balance as of December 31, 2010

44,938
150,545
(42,226)
(27,019)
126,238

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Value

$

$

10.58
6.11
8.36
7.00
6.75

Included in the table above are grants of restricted stock awards made outside the Plan or the Prior Plans to A. Laurence Jones and David G. Durham. On
January 5, 2007, Mr. A. Laurence Jones was granted 30,000 restricted shares pursuant to his appointment as President and Chief Executive Officer. These
shares vest as follows: 10,000 shares on January 5, 2008 and 20,000 shares on January 5, 2011, provided that the restrictions on the 20,000 share tranche
may lapse earlier pursuant to certain performance criteria. The performance criteria specify that the 20,000 share tranche may vest as to 10,000 shares upon
certification by the Committee that Mr. Jones achieved at least 80% performance of specified criteria for the 2008 fiscal year and 10,000 shares upon
certification by the Committee that Mr. Jones achieved at least 80% performance of specified criteria for the 2009 fiscal year. The Committee determined
that Mr. Jones did not achieve the performance criteria for the 2008 fiscal year, and did achieve the performance criteria for the 2009 fiscal year. As such,
10,000 of such shares vested in February 2010. On September 10, 2007,
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Mr. David G. Durham was granted 10,000 restricted shares pursuant to his appointment as Executive Vice President, Treasurer, and Chief Financial Officer.
These shares vest in the same manner as those restricted shares granted under the Plan. The total fair value of restricted stock awards vested during the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $360, $180 and $213, respectively.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The first purchase period under the ESPP commenced July 1, 2008. During 2010, 2009 and 2008, 61,985, 60,045 and 37,321 shares were purchased,
respectively. The weighted-average purchase price in 2010, 2009 and 2008, was $3.98, $4.14 and $4.62 per share, respectively. Total expense recognized
related to the ESPP during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $87, $130 and $68, respectively. The assumptions used to value the
shares under the ESPP using the Black-Scholes method were as follows:
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected life in years

2010

2009

2008

0.1% - 0.2%
0%
38.5% - 55.5%
3 months

0.1% - 0.2%
0%
75.3% - 160.2%
3 months

0.9% - 1.9%
0%
34.1% - 39.8%
3 months

The weighted average grant date fair value of these shares was $1.41, $2.16 and $1.80 per share during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
12. NET INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Net interest and other income for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were composed of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2009

2010

Interest income
Interest expense
Realized gain (loss) on investments available for sale
Other income (loss)
Net interest and other income (expense)

$

111
(55)
108
109
273

$

$

$

13. INCOME TAXES
Pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes was:
2010

U.S.
Foreign
Total

$
$

(25,758)
7,619
(18,139 )

Year Ended December 31,
2009

$
$

1,168
(1,910)
(742 )

2008

$
$
57

(16,285)
293
(15,992 )

119
(291)
—
(38)
(210 )

2008

$

$

1,210
(726)
(500)
71
55

Significant components of the provision for income taxes from continuing operations were:
Year Ended December 31,
2009

2010

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current expense (benefit)

$

(506)
(66)
848
276

$

$

$

(8,200)
(1,064)
1,051
9,181
968

$

1,244

$

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Net change in valuation allowance
Total deferred expense (benefit)

$

Income tax expense (benefit)
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2008

(7,408)
(246)
101
(7,553)

$

$

$

7,402
245
(845)
—
6,802

$

(5,241)
(682)
(1,108)
(45)
(7,076)

$

(751 )

$

(6,301 )

$

$

(970)
(127)
1,872
775

Significant components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,
2010 and 2009 were:
Year Ended December 31,
2010
2009

Current deferred tax assets:
Restructuring costs
Other
Total current net deferred tax assets

$
$

Current deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Accrued liabilities
Restructuring costs
Operating loss carryforward
Unrealized gain on investments and derivative instruments
Prepaid expenses
Cumulative translation adjustment
Other
Total current net deferred tax liabilities

$

$

401
110
511

$

$

$

919
554
1,918
4,498
5,298
301
155
(9,541)
4,102

$

(634)
554
1,410
2,800
—
811
143
(555)
4,529

$

2,145

$

3,570

$

Total net deferred tax asset

$

532
250
—
(366)
(963)
(1,558)
37
(2,068)

$

Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses
Foreign tax credit carryforward
Stock-based compensation
Work opportunity credit carryforward
Operating loss caryforward
Accrued restructuring
Other
Valuation allowance
Net long-term deferred tax assets

111
—
111

$

861
—
271
(230)
(1,189)
(1,183)
—
(1,470)

We consider all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become realizable. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of available carryback and carryforward
periods), and projected taxable income in assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets. In making such judgments, significant weight is given to evidence
that can be objectively verified. Based on all available evidence, in particular our three-year historical cumulative losses, recent operating losses and a U.S.
pre-tax loss for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010, we recorded a valuation allowance against our U.S. net deferred tax assets, which decreased the tax
benefit by $9,181 during the year ended December 31, 2010. No valuation allowance was recorded as of December 31, 2009. In order to fully realize the U.S.
deferred tax assets, we will need to generate sufficient taxable income in future periods before the expiration of the deferred tax assets governed by the tax
code.
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had net current deferred tax assets in our foreign tax jurisdictions and as of December 31, 2009 we had net current
deferred tax liabilities in the U.S.
Deferred taxes were not recognized on temporary differences from undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries of approximately $28,904 as these earnings
are deemed to be permanently reinvested. We have not provided for U.S. federal income and foreign withholding taxes on undistributed earnings from nonU.S. operations as of December 31, 2010 because we intend to reinvest such earnings indefinitely outside of the U.S.
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Differences between U.S. federal statutory income tax rates and our effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 for continuing
operations were:
2010

U.S. statutory tax rate
Effect of state taxes (net of federal benefit)
Effect of change in Canadian tax rate
Work opportunity tax credits
Other permanent differences (including meals and entertainment)
Stock based compensation
Valuation allowance
Other, net
Total

Year Ended December 31,
2009

35.0%
1.2%
-2.2%
6.1%
0.2%
-0.8%
-50.6%
4.2%
-6.9 %

35.0%
-11.9%
-14.0%
142.6%
-21.7%
-19.0%
0.0%
-9.8%
101.2 %

2008

35.0%
2.5%
-2.3%
5.3%
-1.0%
0.0%
0.0%
-0.1%
39.4 %

As of December 31, 2010, we had gross foreign tax credit carry forwards of $554, which expire as follows: $25 in 2011, $4 in 2012, and $525 in 2013. A full
tax-basis valuation allowance was established against these carry forwards during 2006 due to the fact that it is more likely than not that these credits will not
be used prior to their expiration date. As of December 31, 2010, we had gross federal net operating loss carry forwards of $13,463, which expire in 2030 and
gross state net operating loss carry forwards of $16,779, which expire through 2030 as follows:
Year of
Expiration

2013
2014
2015
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2027
2028
2029
2030

As of December 31,
2010

$

$

248
196
1,265
443
491
21
1,061
15
237
656
950
6,491
385
4,320
16,779

We have been granted “Tax Holidays” as an incentive to attract foreign investment by the governments of the Philippines and Costa Rica. Generally, a Tax
Holiday is an agreement between us and a foreign government under which we receive certain tax benefits in that country, such as exemption from taxation
on profits derived from export-related activities. In the Philippines, we have been granted approval for a Tax Holiday, whereby we have an exemption from
income tax until 2012. In Costa Rica, we have been granted approval for an exemption equal to 100% of income tax through 2018, and for 50% of income
tax for the four years thereafter. The aggregate reduction in income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $456, $216 and
$0, respectively, which had a favorable impact on net income of $0.03 per share, $0.01 per share and $0 per share, respectively.
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14. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following items:
Year Ended December 31,
2010
2009

Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments:
Beginning balance
Translation adjustments
Taxes associated with translation adjustments
Ending balance
Accumulated unrealized derivative gains (losses):
Beginning balance
Gain reclassified to earnings, net of tax
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax
Ending balance
Accumulated unrealized losses on available for sale securities:
Beginning balance
Gain reclassified to earnings, net of tax
Change in fair value of available for sale securities, net of tax
Ending balance

$
$
$
$
$

$

1,991
981
(413)
2,559

$

394
1,198
(977)
615

$

(12)
—
—
(12 )

$

$

$

$

1,090
1,420
(519)
1,991
(1,444)
654
1,184
394
(61)
1
48
(12 )

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases
We lease facilities and equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases. Some of these leases have renewal clauses that vary both in length and fee,
based on our negotiations with the lessors. Rental expense, including equipment rentals, for 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $10,039, $7,652 and $6,900,
respectively. As of December 31, 2010, future minimum rental commitments for operating leases and future minimum rentals to be received under noncancelable subleases were as follows.
Minimum Lease
Payments

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$

$

10,828
9,252
7,879
6,756
2,915
7,949
45,579
61

Minimum
Sublease Receivable

$

$

522
516
359
306
—
—
1,703

Capital Leases
We lease equipment under various non-cancelable capital leases. As of December 31, 2010, future minimum rental commitments for capital leases were as
follows.
Minimum Lease
Payments

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Total minimum lease payments

$

$

103
103
20
7
—
233

Legal Proceedings
We have been involved from time to time in litigation arising in the normal course of business, none of which is expected by management to have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
16. SEGMENT INFORMATION
We operate within three business segments, the U.S., Canada and Offshore. The business segments align with those regions in which our services are
rendered. As of December 31, 2010, our U.S. segment included the operations of ten facilities in the U.S.; our Canada segment included the operations of
three facilities in Canada; and our Offshore segment included the operations of two facilities in the Philippines and one in Costa Rica. As of December 31,
2009, there were thirteen, five and one operating centers in the U.S., Canada, and Offshore, respectively. As of December 31, 2008, there were thirteen, six
and one operating centers in the U.S., Canada, and Offshore, respectively. We use gross profit as our measure of profit and loss for each business segment and
do not allocate selling, general and administrative expenses to our business segments.
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Information about our reportable segments, which correspond to the geographic areas in which we operate, for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008 is as follows:
2010

Revenue:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total
Gross profit:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total
Depreciation:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total
Capital expenditures:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total

$

For the Year Ended December 31,
2009

167,680
64,010
33,686
265,376

$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

25,024
4,121
(1,441)
27,704

$

11,988
2,161
3,006
17,155

$

5,521
511
10,910
16,942

$

200,737
76,307
11,936
288,980

$

36,265
11,910
926
49,101

$

11,194
3,036
1,747
15,977

$

10,828
770
3,085
14,683

$

$

$

$

$

2008

180,761
90,929
648
272,338

30,459
4,928
(1,395)
33,992

$

12,526
5,040
237
17,803

$

21,739
1,844
4,396
27,979

$

As of December 31,
2010

Total property, plant and equipment, net:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total

$
$

Total assets:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total

$
$
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2009

25,875
5,557
15,498
46,930

$

104,274
9,982
18,499
132,755

$

$

$

43,486
7,785
6,774
58,045

116,108
28,049
4,911
149,068

17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
The following represents selected information from our unaudited quarterly Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. Due
to the February 2009, sale of our subsidiary, Domain.com, the results of operations related to this line of business have been reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented below.
2010 Quarters Ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

Revenue
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating loss
Loss from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net loss

$

$

Basic net loss per share from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss

$
$

Diluted net loss per share from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss

$
$

67,410
7,136
10,890
—
(3,754)
(3,116)
—
(3,116)

$

(0.21)
—
(0.21)

$

(0.21)
—
(0.21 )

$

$

$

$

$

$

Basic net income (loss) per share from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

$
$

Diluted net income (loss) per share from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

$
$

$

(0.35)
—
(0.35)

$

(0.35)
—
(0.35 )

$

$

$

$

December 31

65,598
6,634
10,327
450
(4,143)
(4,482)
—
(4,482)

$

(0.30)
—
(0.30)

$

(0.30)
—
(0.30 )

$

70,711
10,723
9,692
6,437
(5,406)
(3,988)
4,640
652

$

(0.27)
0.31
0.04

$

(0.27)
0.31
0.04

$

$

$

$

73,290
13,129
10,889
—
2,240
1,327
—
1,327

$

0.09
—
0.09

$

0.09
—
0.09

$

$

$

$

64,692
6,299
11,796
1,621
(7,118)
(6,562)
—
(6,562)

$

(0.44)
—
(0.44)

$

(0.44)
—
(0.44 )

$

2009 Quarters Ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

Revenue
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating (loss) income
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income

67,676
7,635
10,268
764
(3,397)
(5,223)
—
(5,223)

December 31

72,462
13,474
11,084
—
2,390
1,795
—
1,795

$

0.12
—
0.12

$

0.12
—
0.12

$

$

$

$

72,517
11,775
11,531
—
244
875
—
875
0.06
—
0.06

0.06
—
0.06

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In February 2011, we closed our facility in Alexandria, Louisiana due to lower call volumes from our second largest client. The lease expired in
February 2011.
On March 1, 2011, we reached an agreement with UMB Bank to amend our line of credit agreement, whereby, the secured line of credit will be reduced from
$15 million to $10 million. Under the agreement, our financial covenant to maintain a minimum tangible net worth will be decreased from at least $100
million to at least $90 million. In addition, borrowings will bear interest at the thirty day LIBOR index plus 2.50% and shall never be less than 4.00% per
annum. This is an increase from the previous terms which were that borrowings bore interest, at our option at the time of borrowing, of the thirty, sixty or
ninety day LIBOR index, plus 1.75% and that the interest rate wouldn’t be less than 3.25% per annum. We expect to finalize this amendment in March 2011
and it will be effective through August 1, 2011.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of December 31, 2010, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
December 31, 2010, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were designed to ensure that all information required to be disclosed by us in
our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and
forms of the SEC, and accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on
that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010.
Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, issued a report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2010. Ernst & Young LLP’s report is included in Item 9A. of this Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2010, that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of StarTek, Inc.
We have audited StarTek Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). StarTek Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, StarTek, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the
COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
of StarTek, Inc. as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income (loss),
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2010, and our report dated March 4, 2011 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
March 4, 2011
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
Part III
ITEMS 10 THROUGH 14
Information required by Item 10 (Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance), Item 11 (Executive Compensation), Item 12 (Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters), Item 13 (Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director
Independence), and Item 14 (Principal Accounting Fees and Services) will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be delivered in connection with
our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.
Part IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)

The following documents are filed as a part of this Form 10-K:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements. See the index to the Consolidated Financial Statements of StarTek, Inc. and its subsidiaries that appears in
Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
3. An Index of Exhibits follows the signature pages of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Form 10-K to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
STARTEK, INC.
(REGISTRANT)

By:

/s/ A. LAURENCE JONES
A. Laurence Jones
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 4, 2011

By:

/s/ DAVID G. DURHAM
David G. Durham
Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: March 4, 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ A. LAURENCE JONES
A. Laurence Jones

President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ DAVID G. DURHAM
David G. Durham

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ ED ZSCHAU
Ed Zschau

Chairman of the Board

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ ALBERT C. YATES
Albert C. Yates

Director

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ P. KAY NORTON
P. Kay Norton

Director

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ HARVEY A. WAGNER
Harvey A. Wagner

Director

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ CHRISTOPHER M. SMITH
Christopher M. Smith

Director

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ JOHN R. HARRIS
John R. Harris

Director

Date: March 4, 2011
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STARTEK, INC.
INDEX OF EXHIBITS
Exhibit
No.

Incorporated Herein by Reference
Form
Exhibit
Filing Date

Exhibit Description

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
4.1
10.1
10.2†
10.3†
10.4†
10.5†
10.6†
10.7†
10.8†
10.9†
10.10†
10.11†
10.12†
10.13†
10.14†
10.15†
10.16†
10.17†
10.18†
10.19†
10.20†
10.21†
10.22†
10.23†
10.24†

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of StarTek, Inc..
Restated Bylaws of StarTek, Inc..
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of StarTek, Inc. filed
with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 21, 1999.
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of StarTek, Inc. filed
with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 23, 2000.
Specimen Common Stock certificate.
Investor Rights Agreement by and among StarTek, Inc., A. Emmet Stephenson Jr., and
Toni E. Stephenson.
StarTek, Inc. Stock Option Plan, as amended.
Form of Stock Option Agreement.
Form of Option Agreement pursuant to StarTek, Inc. Stock Option Plan (four year
vesting schedule).
StarTek, Inc. Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended.
Form of Option Agreement pursuant to StarTek, Inc. Directors’ Stock Option Plan.
StarTek, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Employee) pursuant to StarTek, Inc.
2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Director) pursuant to StarTek, Inc.
2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement pursuant to StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity
Incentive Plan.
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Employee) pursuant to StarTek, Inc.
2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Director) pursuant to StarTek, Inc. 2008
Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Indemnification Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and its Officers and
Directors.
Form of Executive Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement.
Form of Executive Employment Contract.
Amendment No. 1 to Form of Executive Employment Contract.
Employment Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and A. Laurence Jones.
Amendment to Employment Agreement of A. Laurence Jones signed July 9, 2007.
Amendment to Employment Agreement of A. Laurence Jones signed May 23, 2008.
Option Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and A. Laurence Jones.
Restricted Stock Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and A. Laurence Jones.
Employment Agreement (Stock Option and Restricted Stock Agreements are
attachments to the Employment Agreement) between StarTek, Inc. and David G.
Durham dated August 22, 2007.
Transition Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and Mr. Michael Griffith effective
September 30, 2008.
69

S-1
8-K
10-K

3.1
3.2
3.3

1/29/1997
8/2/2007
3/8/2000

10-Q

3.4

8/14/2000

10-Q
10-K

4.2
10.48

11/6/2007
3/9/2004

Def 14a
S-1/A
8-K

A
10.2
10.26

3/27/2007
3/7/1997
6/16/2006

Def 14a
8-K
Def#14a
Def#14a
8-K

B
10.2
A
B
10.2

3/27/2007
9/9/2004
3/20/2008
3/20/2008
5/5/2008

8-K

10.3

5/5/2008

8-K

10.4

5/5/2008

8-K

10.5

5/5/2008

8-K

10.6

5/5/2008

10-K

10.49

3/9/2004

8-K
8-K
10-K
8-K
10-Q
10-Q
8-K
8-K
8-K

10.1
10.115
10.11
10.78
10.110
10.9
10.79
10.80
10.116

9/14/2004
8/21/2007
2/29/2008
1/08/2007
8/8/2007
8/11/2008
1/08/2007
1/08/2007
8/27/2007

8-K

10.1

9/30/2008

10.25†
10.26†
10.27†
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
10.41
10.42#
10.43#
10.44#
10.45#
10.46

10.47
10.48

Sales Commission Plan (2008 and 2009).
Amended Sales Commission Plan (2008 and 2009).
Incentive Bonus Plan (2008 and 2009).
Credit Agreement and $10,000,000 Revolving Line of Credit Note between
StarTek, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank West, National Association dated June 30, 2003.
Renewal and Amended Credit Agreement by and between StarTek, Inc. and Wells
Fargo NA, dated June 30, 2005.
Third Amendment to Credit Agreement and $10,000,000 Revolving Line of Credit
Note, each entered into as of June 1, 2007.
Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement entered into as of April 30, 2008.
Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, $10,000,000 Revolving Line of Credit Note,
and Addendum to Promissory Note, each entered into as of June 30, 2008.
Continuing Security Agreement between StarTek USA, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, entered into as of June 30, 2008.
Continuing Security Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, entered into as of June 30, 2008.
Promissory Note to Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Inc.
Security Agreement between StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. and Wells Fargo
Equipment Finance Company.
Form of Guaranty of StarTek Canada Obligations executed by StarTek, Inc. and
StarTek USA, Inc.
Promissory Note between StarTek USA, Inc. and Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Inc.
Form of Guaranty of StarTek USA Obligations executed by StarTek, Inc. and StarTek
Canada Services, Ltd.
Share Purchase Agreement by and among StarTek, Inc., StarTek Europe Ltd. and
Taelus Limited, dated September 30, 2004.
Promissory Note between StarTek USA, Inc. and DPL Corporation Southeast.
Services Agreement and Statement of Work by and between StarTek, Inc. and TMobile USA, Inc. for certain call center services dated effective October 1, 2007.
Amendment No. 1 effective February 24, 2008 to Services Agreement and Statement
of Work by and between StarTek, Inc. and T-Mobile USA, Inc. for certain call center
services dated effective October 1, 2007.
Contact Call Center Agreement No. 20070105.006.C between StarTek, Inc. and
AT&T Services, Inc., effective January 26, 2007.
Amendment 20070105.006.A.001 effective October 31, 2007 to Master Services
Agreement 20070105.006.C entered on January 26, 2007 between StarTek, Inc. and
AT&T Services, Inc.
Asset Purchase Agreement among StarTek, Inc., Domain.com, Inc. and A. Emmet
Stephenson Jr., Inc effective February 25, 2009. The schedules have been omitted
from this filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The registrant agrees to
furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request.
Promissory Note, dated June 26, 2009, between StarTek, Inc., StarTek USA, Inc.,
StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. and UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
Business Loan Agreement, dated June 26, 2009, among StarTek, Inc., StarTek
USA, Inc., StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. and UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
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Commercial Security Agreement, dated June 26, 2009, among StarTek, Inc., as
grantor, StarTek, Inc., StarTek USA, Inc., StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. and UMB
Bank Colorado, N.A.
Commercial Security Agreement, dated June 26, 2009, among StarTek USA, Inc., as
grantor, StarTek, Inc., StarTek USA, Inc., StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. and UMB
Bank Colorado, N.A.
Commercial Security Agreement, dated June 26, 2009, among StarTek Canada
Services, Ltd., as grantor, StarTek, Inc., StarTek USA, Inc., StarTek Canada
Services, Ltd. and UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
Amendment No. 2 to T-Mobile USA, Inc. Services Agreement Call Center Services
dated April 1, 2009 between T-Mobile USA, Inc. and StarTek USA, Inc.
Separation Agreement by and between StarTek, Inc. and John J. Damian.
Employment Agreement by and between StarTek, Inc. and Chad A. Carlson.
Promissory Note effective August 1, 2010 between StarTek, Inc., StarTek USA, Inc.
and StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. and UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
Business Loan Agreement effective August 1, 2010 between StarTek, Inc., StarTek
USA, Inc. and StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. and UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
Separation Agreement by and between StarTek, Inc. and Mary Beth Loesch.
Separation Agreement by and between StarTek, Inc. and Chad A. Thorpe
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Certification of A. Laurence Jones pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
Certification of David G. Durham pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

8-K

10.5

7/2/2009

8-K

10.6

7/2/2009

8-K

10.7

7/2/2009

10-Q

10.12

7/31/2009

10-Q
8-K
10-Q

10.6
10.1
10.9

5/7/2010
5/27/2010
7/30/2010

10-Q
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Filed with this Form 10-K.
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
The Securities and Exchange Commission has granted our request that certain material in this agreement be treated as confidential. Such material
has been redacted from the exhibit as filed.
Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and have been filed separately with the Securities
and Exchange Commission
71

Exhibit 10.57
December 9, 2010
Mary Beth Loesch
9 Golden Eagle Lane
Littleton, CO 80127
Dear Mary Beth:
You are hereby notified that your employment with StarTek, Inc. (the “Company”) is hereby terminated effective as of 5:00 p.m. on December 31,
2010. This letter also sets forth the substance of the terms of separation (the “Agreement”) which Company is offering to you to aid in your employment
transition. All terms not defined herein have the same meaning as given in your employment agreement dated August 3, 2007 and as amended on May 19,
2008.
1. SEPARATION. Your last day of work and employment with the Company shall be December 31, 2010 (the “Separation Date”). By executing
this Agreement, you hereby resign any and all positions held with the Company or any of its affiliates. Any failure to execute this Agreement or any
revocation of this Agreement by you shall not reinstate your employment with the Company which shall be terminated as of the date and time set forth
above.
2. ACCRUED SALARY. On the first regular payroll date following the Separation Date, the Company will pay you all accrued salary earned
through the Separation Date, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings. No paid time off is accrued and unused or payable.
3. SEVERANCE PAYMENTS. If you timely sign, date and return this Agreement, the Company will pay you as severance: (i) the equivalent of
twelve (12) months of your base salary in effect as of the Separation Date, in the form of salary continuation for such twelve (12) month period payable on the
Company’s regular payroll cycle beginning on the first regularly-scheduled payroll date following the Effective Date of this Agreement as set forth in
Section 14, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings (the “Salary Continuation”), (ii) a lump sum amount of $96,000 equal to your Annual
Bonus Potential, subject to deductions and withholdings (the “Bonus Payment”), and (iii) annual bonus for the year during which termination occurs, prorated for time and performance as judged by CEO and subject to Deductions. ((i), (ii) and (iii) collectively, the “Severance Benefits”).
4. HEALTH INSURANCE. Provided that you timely elect continuation of health coverage pursuant to COBRA, for a period of twelve (12)
months following the Separation Date, the Company will reimburse you a portion of the cost of your COBRA insurance premiums that is equal to, and does
not exceed, the Company’s monthly contribution towards your health benefit premiums as of the Separation Date; provided, however, that the Company’s
obligation to pay your COBRA premiums will cease immediately in the event you become eligible for group health insurance during the twelve (12) month
period following the Separation Date, and you hereby agree to promptly notify the Company if you become eligible to be covered by group health insurance
in such event. On or after the Separation Date, you will be provided with a
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separate notice more specifically describing your rights and obligations to continuing health insurance coverage under applicable laws.
5. STOCK OPTIONS. Pursuant to your stock option grants and the plan governing those grants (the “Plan”), vesting of your stock options will
cease on your Separation Date.
6. OTHER COMPENSATION OR BENEFITS. You acknowledge that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, you have not earned and
will not receive any additional pay or salary, incentive compensation, severance, equity interests or options, or benefits after the Separation Date, with the
exception of any vested right you may have under the express terms of a written ERISA-qualified benefit plan (e.g., 401(k) account). In particular, but
without limitation, you agree that you are not owed any bonus, incentive compensation, or commissions, other than as provided in this Agreement.
7. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS. You agree that, within ten (10) days of the Separation Date, you will submit your final documented expense
reimbursement statement reflecting all business expenses you incurred through the Separation Date, if any, for which you seek reimbursement. The Company
will reimburse you for these expenses pursuant to its regular business practice.
8. RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY. By the close of business on the Separation Date, you agree to return to the Company all Company
documents (and all copies thereof, in whole or in part) and other Company property which you have in your possession or control, including, but not limited
to, Company files, notes, drawings, records, plans, forecasts, reports, studies, analyses, proposals, agreements, engineering information, test data and materials,
financial information, research and development information, sales and marketing information, customer information and databases, contact information,
operational and personnel information, specifications, code, software, databases, computer-recorded information, tangible property and equipment
(including, but not limited to, computers, facsimile machines, mobile telephones, pda’s, VPN access keys, servers), credit cards, entry cards, identification
badges and keys; and any materials of any kind which contain or embody any proprietary or confidential information of the Company (and all reproductions
thereof in whole or in part). You agree that you will make a diligent search to locate any such documents, property and information within the timeframe
referenced above. If you have used any personally owned computer, server, or e-mail system to receive, store, review, prepare or transmit any Company
confidential or proprietary data, materials or information, you agree to provide the Company with a computer-useable copy of such information and then
permanently delete and expunge such Company confidential or proprietary information from those systems within five (5) business days after the Separation
Date; and you agree to provide the Company access to your system as requested to verify that the necessary copying and/or deletion is done. You agree that,
after the Separation Date, you will neither use nor possess Company property. Your timely compliance with this paragraph is a condition precedent to
your receipt of the severance benefits described in paragraph 3 above.
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9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF CONTINUING OBLIGATIONS. You acknowledge and reaffirm your continuing obligations under your
Manager, Executive Personnel or Assistants’ Proprietary Information, Inventions, Non-Competition, and Non-Solicitation Agreement (Exhibit A to your
Employment Agreement). By signing this Letter, (i) you acknowledge those obligations, including by way of example but not limitation, obligations to
keep information confidential, not to compete with the Company, and not to solicit employees and clients of the Company, and (ii) you further acknowledge
and agree that the consideration paid by the Company to you under your Employment Agreement and under this Agreement is sufficient and valid
consideration to support your obligations under such documents. A copy of your full Employment Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit A.
10. CONFIDENTIALITY. The provisions of this Agreement shall be held in strictest confidence by you and the Company and shall not be
publicized or disclosed in any manner whatsoever; provided, however, that: (a) you may disclose this Agreement to your immediate family; (b) the parties
may disclose this Agreement in confidence to their respective attorneys, accountants, auditors, tax preparers, and financial advisors; (c) the Company may
disclose this Agreement as necessary to fulfill standard or legally required corporate reporting or disclosure requirements; and (d) the parties may disclose this
Agreement insofar as such disclosure may be necessary to enforce its terms or as otherwise required by law. In particular, and without limitation, you agree
not to disclose the existence or terms of this Agreement to any current or former Company employees, consultants, or independent contractors.
11. NON-DISPARAGEMENT. Both you and the Company agree not to disparage the other party, and the other party’s officers, directors,
employees, shareholders and agents, in any manner likely to be harmful to them or their business, business reputation or personal reputation; provided that
both you and the Company shall respond accurately and fully to any question, inquiry or request for information when required by legal process.
12. NO ADMISSIONS. You understand and agree that the promises and payments in consideration of this Agreement shall not be construed to be
an admission of any liability or obligation by the Company to you or to any other person, and that the Company makes no such admission.
13. RELEASE OF CLAIMS. In exchange for the payments and other consideration under this Agreement to which you would not otherwise be
entitled, you hereby release, acquit and forever discharge the Company, and its officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, shareholders,
successors, assigns and affiliates, in their individual, corporate and official capacities, of and from any and all claims, liabilities, demands, causes of action,
costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages, indemnities and obligations of every kind and nature, in law, equity, or otherwise, known and unknown, suspected
and unsuspected, disclosed and undisclosed, arising out of or in any way related to agreements, events, acts or conduct at any time prior to and including the
date you sign this Agreement, including but not limited to: (a) any and all such claims and demands directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way
connected with your employment with the Company or the conclusion of that employment; (b) any claims
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whatsoever against the Company or those released above by this Release of Claims arising before you sign this Agreement; (c) all claims or demands related
to salary, bonuses, commissions, incentive payments, stock, stock options, or any ownership or equity interests in the Company, including vacation pay,
personal time off, fringe benefits, severance benefits, or any other form of compensation; (d) all claims pursuant to any federal, any state or any local law,
statute, common law or cause of action, employment or otherwise, including, but not limited to, the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, attorney’s
fees under Title VII of the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, or any other statute, agreement or source of law, the federal Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as
amended, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the Colorado anti-discrimination statute, any other state or local employment,
discrimination, or labor code, and the Equal Pay Act, of 1963, as amended; (e) all claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination, and breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; and (f) all tort claims, including, but not limited to, claims for assault, battery, invasion of privacy, fraud,
defamation, emotional distress, and discharge in violation of public policy. You represent that you have no lawsuits, claims or actions pending in your name
or on behalf of any other person or entity, against the Company or any other person or entity subject to the release granted in this paragraph. You further
agree that in the event you bring a claim or charge covered by this release, this Agreement shall serve as a complete defense to such claims or charges.
Excluded from this release are any claims that cannot be waived by law. Furthermore, you agree to release and discharge the Company not only from any and
all claims which you could make on your own behalf, but also specifically waive any right to become, and promise not to become, a member of any class in
any proceeding or case in which a claim or claims against the Company may arise, in whole or in part, from any event which occurred prior to the date of this
Agreement. If you are not permitted to opt-out of a future class, then you agree to waive any recovery for which you would be eligible as a member of such
class.
14. ADEA WAIVER AND RELEASE.
(a)
You acknowledge that you are knowingly and voluntarily waiving and releasing any rights you may have under the ADEA. You also
acknowledge that the consideration given for the waiver and release in the preceding paragraph hereof is in addition to anything of value to which you were
already entitled. You further acknowledge that you have been advised by this writing, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) your waiver and release do not
apply to any rights or claims that may arise after the execution date of this Agreement; (b) you have been advised hereby that you have the right to consult
with an attorney prior to executing this Agreement; (c) you have forty-five (45) days to consider this Agreement (although you may choose to voluntarily
execute this Agreement earlier); (d) you have seven (7) days following the execution of this Agreement by the parties to revoke the Agreement; and (e) this
Agreement will not be effective until the date upon which the revocation period has expired, which will be the eighth day after this Agreement is executed by
you, provided that the Company has also executed this Agreement by that date (“Effective Date”). If you chose to revoke the Agreement, you must
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send written notice of the revocation by certified mail, return receipt requested, to Sue Morse, Senior Vice President, Human Resources, 44 Cook Street,
4 th Floor, Denver CO, 80206.
(b)
You acknowledge and agree that you are signing the Agreement voluntarily and without any other promises or agreements from the
Company. You understand that your job has been eliminated as part of a reduction in force and reorganization. The job elimination is a result of business
circumstances. The criteria the Company used for the elimination of positions in your department/decisional unit are contained in Exhibit B. Additionally,
Exhibit B details the job titles and ages of those affected in your department/decisional unit and the ages and job titles of those in the same
department/decisional unit who are not affected. All persons included in the reduction are eligible to participate in separation benefits.
15. REMEDY. You agree that, if you bring any kind of legal claim against the Company that you have given up by signing this Agreement, then
you will be violating this Agreement and you must pay all legal fees, other costs and expenses incurred by the Company in defending against your claim.
16. MISCELLANEOUS. This Agreement, including Exhibits A and B, constitute the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire
agreement between you and the Company with regard to this subject matter. It is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or
oral, other than those expressly contained herein, and it supersedes any other such promises, warranties or representations. This Agreement may not be
modified or amended except in a writing signed by both you and a duly authorized officer of the Company. This Agreement shall bind the heirs, personal
representatives, successors and assigns of both you and the Company, and inure to the benefit of both you and the Company, their heirs, successors and
assigns. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, this determination will not affect any other
provision of this Agreement and the provision in question shall be modified by the court so as to be rendered enforceable. This Agreement shall be deemed
to have been entered into and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado as applied to contracts made and to be
performed entirely within Colorado.
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If this Agreement is acceptable to you, please sign below and return the original to me. I wish you every success in your future endeavors.
Sincerely,
STARTEK, INC.
By:

/s/ Susan L. Morse
Susan L. Morse
SVP, Human Resources

I HAVE READ, UNDERSTAND AND AGREE FULLY TO WHAT IS SET FORTH IN THE FOREGOING AGREEMENT, AND I ACKNOWLEDGE
MY CONTINUING OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PROPRIETARY INFORMATION, INVENTIONS, NON-COMPETITION, AND NONSOLICITATION AGREEMENT:
AGREED:
/s/ Mary Beth Loesch
Mary Beth Loesch
12/31/2010
Date
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EXHIBIT A
Employment Agreement, as amended
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EXHIBIT B
Older Workers’ Benefit Protection Act Notification
Department/Decisional Unit Impacted: Senior Leadership Team
TITLE

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Senior Vice President, HR
Senior Vice President, GC
Senior Vice President, Sales
*Senior Vice President, Corporate Development

AGE

45

* Position is being eliminated and duties disseminated to other positions within the organization
8

BIRTHDATE

2/24/53
10/30/1961
3/22/66
8/4/46
01/20/65
2/10/75
8/16/1960

Selected for Reduction

No
No
No
No
No
Yes
Yes

Exhibit 10.58

December 9, 2010
Mr. Chad Thorpe
885 Cinnabar Drive
Castle Rock, CO 80108
Dear Chad:
You are hereby notified that your employment with StarTek, Inc. (the “Company”) is hereby terminated effective as of 5:00 p.m. on December 31,
2010. This letter also sets forth the substance of the terms of separation (the “Agreement”) which Company is offering to you to aid in your employment
transition. All terms not defined herein have the same meaning as given in your employment agreement dated March 1, 2009 and as amended on July 26,
2010.
1. SEPARATION. Your last day of work and employment with the Company shall be December 31, 2010 (the “Separation Date”). By executing
this Agreement, you hereby resign any and all positions held with the Company or any of its affiliates. Any failure to execute this Agreement or any
revocation of this Agreement by you shall not reinstate your employment with the Company which shall be terminated as of the date and time set forth
above.
2. ACCRUED SALARY. On the first regular payroll date following the Separation Date, the Company will pay you all accrued salary earned
through the Separation Date, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings. No paid time off is accrued and unused or payable.
3. SEVERANCE PAYMENTS. If you timely sign, date and return this Agreement, the Company will pay you as severance: (i) the equivalent of
twelve (12) months of your base salary in effect as of the Separation Date, in the form of salary continuation for such twelve (12) month period payable on the
Company’s regular payroll cycle beginning on the first regularly-scheduled payroll date following the Effective Date of this Agreement as set forth in
Section 14, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings (the “Salary Continuation”), (ii) a lump sum amount of $75,000 equal to your Annual
Bonus Potential, subject to deductions and withholdings (the “Bonus Payment”), (iii) annual bonus for the year during which termination occurs, pro-rated
for time and performance as judged by CEO and subject to Deductions; and (iv) any amounts that may be earned under the 2010 Sales Commission Plan
between you and the Company dated March 8, 2010 (the “Commission Plan”), attached hereto as Exhibit A. ((i), (ii), and (iii) collectively, the “Severance
Benefits”).
4. HEALTH INSURANCE. Provided that you timely elect continuation of health coverage pursuant to COBRA, for a period of twelve (12)
months following the Separation Date, the Company will reimburse you a portion of the cost of your COBRA insurance premiums that is equal to, and does
not exceed, the Company’s monthly contribution towards your health benefit premiums as of the Separation Date; provided, however, that the Company’s
obligation to pay
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your COBRA premiums will cease immediately in the event you become eligible for group health insurance during the twelve (12) month period following
the Separation Date, and you hereby agree to promptly notify the Company if you become eligible to be covered by group health insurance in such event.
On or after the Separation Date, you will be provided with a separate notice more specifically describing your rights and obligations to continuing health
insurance coverage under applicable laws.
5. STOCK OPTIONS. Pursuant to your stock option grants and the plan governing those grants (the “Plan”), vesting of your stock options will
cease on your Separation Date.
6. OTHER COMPENSATION OR BENEFITS. You acknowledge that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, you have not earned and
will not receive any additional pay or salary, incentive compensation, severance, equity interests or options, or benefits after the Separation Date, with the
exception of any vested right you may have under the express terms of a written ERISA-qualified benefit plan (e.g., 401(k) account. In particular, but without
limitation, you agree that you are not owed any bonus, incentive compensation, or commissions, other than as provided in this Agreement.
7. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS. You agree that, within ten (10) days of the Separation Date, you will submit your final documented expense
reimbursement statement reflecting all business expenses you incurred through the Separation Date, if any, for which you seek reimbursement. The Company
will reimburse you for these expenses pursuant to its regular business practice.
8. RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY. By the close of business on the Separation Date, you agree to return to the Company all Company
documents (and all copies thereof, in whole or in part) and other Company property which you have in your possession or control, including, but not limited
to, Company files, notes, drawings, records, plans, forecasts, reports, studies, analyses, proposals, agreements, engineering information, test data and materials,
financial information, research and development information, sales and marketing information, customer information and databases, contact information,
operational and personnel information, specifications, code, software, databases, computer-recorded information, tangible property and equipment
(including, but not limited to, computers, facsimile machines, mobile telephones, pda’s, VPN access keys, servers), credit cards, entry cards, identification
badges and keys; and any materials of any kind which contain or embody any proprietary or confidential information of the Company (and all reproductions
thereof in whole or in part). You agree that you will make a diligent search to locate any such documents, property and information within the timeframe
referenced above. If you have used any personally owned computer, server, or e-mail system to receive, store, review, prepare or transmit any Company
confidential or proprietary data, materials or information, you agree to provide the Company with a computer-useable copy of such information and then
permanently delete and expunge such Company confidential or proprietary information from those systems within five (5) business days after the Separation
Date; and you agree to provide the Company access to your system as requested to verify that the necessary copying and/or deletion is done. You agree that,
after the Separation Date, you will
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neither use nor possess Company property. Your timely compliance with this paragraph is a condition precedent to your receipt of the severance benefits
described in paragraph 3 above.
9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF CONTINUING OBLIGATIONS. You acknowledge and reaffirm your continuing obligations under your
Manager, Executive Personnel or Assistants’ Proprietary Information, Inventions, Non-Competition, and Non-Solicitation Agreement (Exhibit A to your
Employment Agreement). By signing this Letter, (i) you acknowledge those obligations, including by way of example but not limitation, obligations to
keep information confidential, not to compete with the Company, and not to solicit employees and clients of the Company, and (ii) you further acknowledge
and agree that the consideration paid by the Company to you under your Employment Agreement and under this Agreement is sufficient and valid
consideration to support your obligations under such documents. A copy of your full Employment Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit B.
10. CONFIDENTIALITY. The provisions of this Agreement shall be held in strictest confidence by you and the Company and shall not be
publicized or disclosed in any manner whatsoever; provided, however, that: (a) you may disclose this Agreement to your immediate family; (b) the parties
may disclose this Agreement in confidence to their respective attorneys, accountants, auditors, tax preparers, and financial advisors; (c) the Company may
disclose this Agreement as necessary to fulfill standard or legally required corporate reporting or disclosure requirements; and (d) the parties may disclose this
Agreement insofar as such disclosure may be necessary to enforce its terms or as otherwise required by law. In particular, and without limitation, you agree
not to disclose the existence or terms of this Agreement to any current or former Company employees, consultants, or independent contractors.
11. NON-DISPARAGEMENT. Both you and the Company agree not to disparage the other party, and the other party’s officers, directors,
employees, shareholders and agents, in any manner likely to be harmful to them or their business, business reputation or personal reputation; provided that
both you and the Company shall respond accurately and fully to any question, inquiry or request for information when required by legal process.
12. NO ADMISSIONS. You understand and agree that the promises and payments in consideration of this Agreement shall not be construed to be
an admission of any liability or obligation by the Company to you or to any other person, and that the Company makes no such admission.
13. RELEASE OF CLAIMS. In exchange for the payments and other consideration under this Agreement to which you would not otherwise be
entitled, you hereby release, acquit and forever discharge the Company, and its officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, shareholders,
successors, assigns and affiliates, in their individual, corporate and official capacities, of and from any and all claims, liabilities, demands, causes of action,
costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages, indemnities and obligations of every kind and nature, in law, equity, or otherwise, known and unknown, suspected
and unsuspected, disclosed and
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undisclosed, arising out of or in any way related to agreements, events, acts or conduct at any time prior to and including the date you sign this Agreement,
including but not limited to: (a) any and all such claims and demands directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way connected with your employment
with the Company or the conclusion of that employment; (b) any claims whatsoever against the Company or those released above by this Release of Claims
arising before you sign this Agreement; (c) all claims or demands related to salary, bonuses, commissions, incentive payments, stock, stock options, or any
ownership or equity interests in the Company, including vacation pay, personal time off, fringe benefits, severance benefits, or any other form of
compensation; (d) all claims pursuant to any federal, any state or any local law, statute, common law or cause of action, employment or otherwise, including,
but not limited to, the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, attorney’s fees under Title VII of the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, or
any other statute, agreement or source of law, the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the
Colorado anti-discrimination statute, any other state or local employment, discrimination, or labor code, and the Equal Pay Act, of 1963, as amended; (e) all
claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; and (f) all tort claims, including, but
not limited to, claims for assault, battery, invasion of privacy, fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge in violation of public policy. You
represent that you have no lawsuits, claims or actions pending in your name or on behalf of any other person or entity, against the Company or any other
person or entity subject to the release granted in this paragraph. You further agree that in the event you bring a claim or charge covered by this release, this
Agreement shall serve as a complete defense to such claims or charges. Excluded from this release are any claims that cannot be waived by law. Furthermore,
you agree to release and discharge the Company not only from any and all claims which you could make on your own behalf, but also specifically waive any
right to become, and promise not to become, a member of any class in any proceeding or case in which a claim or claims against the Company may arise, in
whole or in part, from any event which occurred prior to the date of this Agreement. If you are not permitted to opt-out of a future class, then you agree to
waive any recovery for which you would be eligible as a member of such class.
14. REMEDY. You agree that, if you bring any kind of legal claim against the Company that you have given up by signing this Agreement, then
you will be violating this Agreement and you must pay all legal fees, other costs and expenses incurred by the Company in defending against your claim.
15. MISCELLANEOUS. This Agreement, including Exhibit A, constitutes the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire agreement
between you and the Company with regard to this subject matter. It is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or oral, other
than those expressly contained herein, and it supersedes any other such promises, warranties or representations. This Agreement may not be modified or
amended except in a writing signed by both you and a duly authorized officer of the Company. This Agreement shall bind the heirs, personal representatives,
successors and assigns of both you and the Company, and
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inure to the benefit of both you and the Company, their heirs, successors and assigns. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or
unenforceable, in whole or in part, this determination will not affect any other provision of this Agreement and the provision in question shall be modified by
the court so as to be rendered enforceable. This Agreement shall be deemed to have been entered into and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with
the laws of the State of Colorado as applied to contracts made and to be performed entirely within Colorado.
16. EXPIRATION DATE OF OFFER. This offer will expire at the end of the twenty-first day after you receive this Agreement unless before that
time, you sign and return this Agreement to StarTek.
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If this Agreement is acceptable to you, please sign below and return the original to me. I wish you every success in your future endeavors.
Sincerely,
STARTEK, INC.
By:

/s/ Susan L. Morse
Susan L. Morse
SVP, Human Resources

I HAVE READ, UNDERSTAND AND AGREE FULLY TO WHAT IS SET FORTH IN THE FOREGOING AGREEMENT, AND I ACKNOWLEDGE
MY CONTINUING OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PROPRIETARY INFORMATION, INVENTIONS, NON-COMPETITION, AND NONSOLICITATION AGREEMENT:
AGREED:
/s/ Chad Thorpe
Chad Thorpe
12/30/2010
Date
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EXHIBIT A
2010 SVP Sales Commission Plan

EXHIBIT B
Employment Agreement, as amended

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
JURISDICTION OF
INCORPORATION

NAME OF SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARIES DOING
BUSINESS AS

StarTek USA, Inc.

Colorado

StarTek USA
StarTek
StarTek Services

StarTek Canada Services, Ltd.

Nova Scotia, Canada

StarTek Canada Services
StarTek
StarTek Services

StarTek Holdings, Inc.

Delaware

StarTek Holdings

StarTek International, Limited

Bermuda

StarTek International

StarTek Pacific, Ltd.

Colorado

StarTek Pacific

EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-150635, 333-150634, 333-142780, 333-134903, 333126989, 333-117451, 333-63106, 333-77009 and 333-168463 pertaining to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, Stock Option
Plan and Directors’ Stock Option Plan of StarTek, Inc. of our reports dated March 4, 2011, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of StarTek, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of StarTek, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2010.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
March 4, 2011

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, A. Laurence Jones, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of StarTek, Inc.;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ A. LAURENCE JONES
A. Laurence Jones
President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, David G. Durham, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of StarTek, Inc.;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ DAVID G. DURHAM
David G. Durham
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS
In connection with the Annual Report of StarTek, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned individuals, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:
1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Registrant.

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ A. LAURENCE JONES
A. Laurence Jones
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 4, 2011

/s/ DAVID G. DURHAM
David G. Durham
Executive Vice President, Chief Finanical Officer and Treasurer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Corporation and will be
retained by the Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

